

How do Development Organisations Integrate Climate and Conflict Risks?

Experiences and Lessons Learnt from the UK, Germany and the Netherlands

Maria-Therese Gustafsson





How do Development Organisations Integrate Climate and Conflict Risks?

Experiences and Lessons Learnt from the UK, Germany and the Netherlands

Maria-Therese Gustafsson

©Maria-Therese Gustafsson, Stockholm University 2016

Printed in Sweden by AJ E-print AB, Stockholm 2016
Distributor: Department of Political Science, Stockholm University

Preface

The security implications of climate change have attracted increased attention in policy and research during the past decade. Since climate change has far reaching implications on human livelihoods and activities, the potential security implications are broad and complex. As stated in the fifth assessment report from the Intergovernmental Panel of Climate Change (IPCC), climate change undermines human security, affects some previously known violent conflict triggers, and increasingly shapes conditions of security and national security policies. Overall, this means that climate change entails different types of security challenges stretching from human security to state security, which require responses from different policy communities — foreign affairs, defence, crisis management, finance, environment and development. These communities are currently in different stages of developing strategies for integrating climate security risks in their work.

This report was produced within a project funded by the Swedish Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA). The main goal of the project was to assist and inform policy making on security risks posed by climate change, with the focus on two specific areas. How policy organisations such as development and defence actors frame and integrate climate security risks in their work; and how and under what circumstances climate change increases the risk of violent conflict. The first topic was examined through a review of the literature and two separate case studies on how organisations integrate climate security risks in their work. The organisations concerned were the European External Action Service (EEAS) and development organisations in three European countries. The second topic was examined through a review on the climate-conflict literature in one specific region, East Africa. All three studies are described in separate reports published in 2016. A synthesising report will be released in September 2016.

The present report addresses the integration of climate and conflict risks in development organisations' work. The three organisations examined are Department for International Development (DFID) in UK, the German Society for International Cooperation (GIZ) in Germany and the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA). Two forms of integration are in focus: climate resilient peace building and conflict-sensitive climate change

programming. The overall goal of this study was to learn from experiences made regarding the implementation of what is known as "integrated approaches". Interviews with staff at the organisations were a substantial basis for the analysis.

The report was produced by the Department of Political Science, Stockholm University, in collaboration with Stockholm International Peace Research Institute (SIPRI) and the Swedish Institute of International Affairs (Ui). During the work with this report, we had fruitful discussions and received valuable comments from professor Fredrik Uggla at the Institute of Latin American Studies, Stockholm University, who acted as a reviewer on an earlier draft, and from the project group consisting of Sebastian van Baalen, Niklas Bremberg, Karin Bäckstrand, Lisa Maria Dellmuth and Hannes Sonnsjö. We would also like to express our gratitude to the Swedish MFA who made this study possible. A warm and sincere thanks also goes to all of you who took your time and shared your thoughts and experiences. Without your contribution this report could not be made.

Malin Mobjörk, project leader and senior researcher at SIPRI

Male Usy Stockholm, April 2016

Executive summary

There is growing consensus among practitioners and scholars that combined climate, conflict and fragility risks require integrated approaches. Development organisations have recently started to integrate security implications of climate change into high-level policies. However, the translation of high-level policies into geographical strategies and programming has often proven a challenge for development organisations. In this report, we explore the questions of how development organisations have addressed combined climate and conflict risks in their policies and how they have dealt with challenges to implementing these policies in their programmes. We do so by examining policies, analytical tools, strategies and implementation procedures in three development organisations in combination with interviews with staff at the organisations. The organisations concerned are the Department for International Development (DFID), the Die Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) and the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA). More specifically, we focus on two forms of integration that have been identified as particularly relevant for effectively addressing combined climate and conflict risks: the integration of climate risks in peacebuilding efforts and the need to apply a conflict-sensitive approach in climate change programmes. This is often discussed in the literature in terms of climate-resilient peacebuilding and conflict-sensitive climate programming.

The overall aim with this study was to contribute to an increased understanding of how institutions could deal with the policy challenges posed by combined climate and conflict risks. While there are some previous studies addressing such policy responses at the regional and global level, there is to our knowledge no other study that investigates how national development organisations have dealt with these issues. By examining both the policy responses and the implementation strategies of the three organisations, the study provides a deepened understanding of the opportunities and challenges of translating these policies into practice. The ambition was to enhance knowledge of different policies and of factors affecting implementation. This knowledge is essential for policy makers to accurately assess the value of current Swedish strategies in this regard and to identify how internal organisation and procedures could be improved to better respond to compound climate and conflict risks.

As mentioned above, the report examines two forms of integration of climate and conflict risks: climate-resilient peacebuilding and conflict-sensitive climate programming. The core element of *climate-resilient peacebuilding* is the importance of taking both short- and long-term climate risks into consideration in peacebuilding efforts as potential drivers of conflict. The report shows that in high-level policies in both Germany and the UK, climate

change is considered a factor that could increase the potential for conflicts. Despite this, neither country requires climate change and climate variability to be specifically addressed in conflict analysis, early warning systems or country strategies. The primary strategy for integrating climate risks into peacebuilding activities is through climate-proofing. Climate-proofing is, however, based on the "do no harm" logic and therefore requires complementary integration strategies in order to contribute positively to peacebuilding processes. The most important consequence of disregarding climate risks in conflict analysis is that conflict prevention could be hampered.

The overarching goal with *conflict-resilient climate programming* is that responses to climate change should not increase the risk of conflict, and in the best case even help strengthen peacebuilding processes. Several studies therefore suggest that in order to address combined climate and conflict risks, it is necessary for climate change programming to take conflict risks into account. Resilience and vulnerability are the most common frameworks that development organisations use for their climate-related activities. Resilience and vulnerability methods are intended to identify risks and strengthen adaptation and development planning. While the methodologies of both DFID and GIZ include socio-economic conditions, in particular vulnerability assessments pay little attention to the conflict dimension. Without integrating conflict risks into their assessments, development organisations are unlikely to be able to address combined conflict and climate risks in a consistent manner.

Besides the importance of including careful analysis of the conflict dimension in resilience and vulnerability assessments, there is also a related debate regarding the risk of maladaptation. Simply put, the argument goes that if climate programmes are not conflict-sensitive, they could themselves have negative impacts on land tenure and marginalise certain groups, with negative impacts on their propensity for conflict. In both GIZ and DFID, there are guidelines regarding how to ensure the conflict sensitivity of development programming in conflict-affected and fragile states. While these procedures are very important, staff members reported that they often need to balance many different priorities. Hence, without support from help desks or expert groups, it could be challenging for staff members to employ these tools and develop entirely conflict-sensitive projects.

The report clearly shows that the translation of high-level policies into strategies and programming has proven challenging for development organisations. Lack of knowledge and internal organisational structures and priorities are important obstacles to effective implementation. An important question is how implementation could be improved. The report identifies a number of lessons for policy makers and practitioners:

- There is a need for *improving coordination* across policy areas. Climate and security threats span various policy areas that are in many cases strongly separated. If these policy areas are managed within the same department or by a specially created new steering group, coordination becomes significantly easier. The report also shows that external expert units could play an important coordinating role and contribute to coherence and sustainability over time.
- *Knowledge* about how climate change may affect food, water, migration and humanitarian disasters is crucial for responding effectively to climate-induced security risk. Our analysis shows that development organisations often lack the knowledge needed to respond efficiently to combined climate and conflict risks. It is therefore important to create help desks or specialist units, internal or external, that provide expertise on these matters.
- There is a need to *modify existing methodological tools*. In most organisations climate programming and peacebuilding efforts are largely dealt with using separate analytical tools that are unlikely to be able to capture how complex risks interact with each other. It is therefore important to develop new analytical tools that can address both conflict risks and climate change vulnerability.
- While mainstreaming has the advantage of raising the awareness of an issue, this strategy also has clear limitations. Besides requiring time, capabilities and commitment by staff, mainstreaming strategies often follow a "do no harm" logic, which means that they only ensure that proposed projects have no obvious negative impacts on e.g. climate change. Mainstreaming does not necessarily contribute to more profound forms of integration where positive effects are achieved. Hence, mainstreaming strategies by themselves are not sufficient to effectively address combined climate and conflict risks and need to be complemented by other integration strategies.

Keywords: climate change, human security, development organisations, policy implementation, integrated approaches.

Contents

1. Introduction	11
Implementation of climate fragility policies in the work development organisations	15 15 16 17 19
3. Responses of UK development organisations to climate-induction security risks	21 21 23
3.2.1 Integration of climate risks in DFID's peace and security policies. 3.2.2 Integration of climate risks in conflict assessments and operation plans	nal 24 27 30 30 31 ind
4. Responses of German development organisations to climat induced security risks	35 35 37 38 39
4.3 Conflict-sensitive climate change programming	43 ion 43 44 ate

	The Netherlands – a newcomer within the climate sec	
	5.1 Water diplomacy – A Dutch climate and security niche?	48
į	5.2 Reflections on how to implement climate-security policies	49
6.	Experiences and implications for policy	52
6	6.1 Climate-resilient peace building	52
6	6.2 Conflict-sensitive climate change programming	53
6	6.3 Factors important for policy implementation	55
	6.3.1 Unclear policy objectives and lack of information	55
	6.3.2 Internal organisational structures	56
	6.3.3 Measures for support and control	57
6	6.4 Conclusions	58
6	6.5 Lessons for policy-makers and practitioners	58

Abbreviations

BMUB Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation,

Building and Nuclear Safety (Germany)

BMZ Federal Ministry of Economic Cooperation and Development

BSO Building Stability Overseas

BRACED Building Resilience and Adaptation to Climate Extremes and

Disasters programme

CHASE Conflict, Humanitarian and Security Department (DFID)

CEA Climate and Environment Appraisal

CSSF Conflict, Security and Stability Fund (UK)
DFID Department for International Development

DRR Disaster Risk Reduction

FCO Foreign and Commonwealth Office (UK)

GIZ Die Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit

(The German Society for International Cooperation)

HERR Humanitarian Emergency Response Review JACS Joint Analysis of Conflict and Stability

MFA Ministry of Foreign Affairs MOD Ministry of Defence (UK)

OSCE Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe

REDD Reduce Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation

UNECE United Nations Economic Commission for Europe

UNSC United Nations Security Council

1. Introduction

Research has established that climate change will have far-reaching implications for both human and state security (Adger et al. 2014:758). Climate change can cause changes in precipitation patterns, rising temperatures, melting glaciers, natural disasters and sea level rise. These biophysical processes are, in turn, likely to increase competition over water, land and food, increase the risk of natural disasters, cause forced migration and, possibly, trigger violent conflicts. Research has also shown that climate change constitutes a particular threat in fragile and conflict-affected states. Countries with a history of violence generally have a weaker capacity to adapt to climate change, and low adaptability heightens the vulnerability of their populations to climate impacts. While places such as Somalia, Haiti, Congo and Sierra Leone are perhaps the most obvious examples of such countries, the problem goes further than that and today an estimated 1.4 million people live in states that are both conflict-affected and fragile¹ (Matthew 2014:84; Scheffran et al. 2012:79). Unless climate change is dealt with effectively in such settings, it could constitute a significant threat to future sustainable development and undermine peace-building processes (Matthew & Hammill 2012:268).

At the same time, there are several examples of mitigation and adaptation programmes that have actually exacerbated insecurity over land tenure, marginalisation of minority groups and social tensions (Tänzler, 2013:29). Several researchers have therefore argued that the responses to climate change need to be conflict-sensitive (Rüttinger et al. 2015:64; Babcicky 2013; Barnett & O'Neil 2010). Climate and conflict risks are intrinsically linked and therefore require integrated responses by the actors involved. The question is how such integration can be achieved in practice.

The combined task of responding to climate and conflict risks demands multiple tiers of action – from the household to the international level – and effective coordination between different policy areas (Vivekananda et al. 2014:495). Yet such demands involve a huge challenge for development organisations to implement in practice. First of all, development organisations are complex entities in which planning, assessment and decisions are often widely diffused. They also work in settings in which

¹http://www.pbsbdialogue.org/en/new-deal/about-new-deal, accessed 8 March 2016.

information to guide assessments and decisions is often lacking. Finally, development cooperation, particularly as performed by bilateral organisations, requires a high degree of coordination, harmonisation and – ultimately – negotiation with a range of other actors at local and national level, many of which may have their own agendas and preferences that do not necessarily concur with those of the development organisation itself.

This study examines how different development organisations address the combination of climate and conflict risks in their policies and investigates how these organisations deal with challenges to implementing those policies in their programmes. While such integration is undoubtedly required in most fields of development cooperation, this report addresses two forms of integration that have been identified in the literature as particularly relevant for effectively addressing combined climate and conflict risks; the integration of climate risks in peace-building efforts and the need to apply a conflict-sensitive approach in climate change programmes. This is what is often called *climate-resilient peace building* and *conflict-sensitive climate change programming* (Crawford et al. 2015:1; Vivekananda et al. 2014:495; Dabelko et al. 2013).

The importance of taking into account factors related to natural resources in conflict prevention and resolution is well established among practitioners (UNEP 2015; Young & Goldman 2015), and development organisations have in recent years started to integrate the security implications of climate change into high-level policies. As the Dutch foreign minister recently remarked: "Climate change has a major impact on our security. We can no longer approach these two topics separately."2 However, the translation of high-level policies into geographical strategies and programming has often proven a challenge for development organisations. For instance, several analysts have suggested that the strong separation between disaster risk reduction, climate change adaptation and mitigation, development and conflict constitutes an important obstacle to effective implementation of policies in this regard (Rüttinger et al. 2015; Crawford et al. 2015; Peters & Vivekanada 2014). Even within a particular organisation these policy areas are often separated, which could make it difficult to coordinate analytical tools and activities. Other analysts suggest that lack of information regarding the more concrete impacts of climate change in different countries prevents policy makers from responding to climate risks (Lewis & Lenton 2015:384). Other important factors obstructing integration are related to internal organisational structures and priorities.

-

²https://www.government.nl/topics/climate-change/news/2015/11/02/koenders-and-ploumen-'climate-change-and-security-are-intimately-linked', accessed 17 November 2015

This report is based on an analysis of policies, analytical tools, strategies and implementation procedures in three development organisations: the British Department for International Development (DFID), the German Die Deutsche Gesellschaft fur Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ) and the Dutch Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MFA). These organisations represent countries that have in different ways distinguished themselves by pushing the climate and security agenda forward in the international debate: The UK and Germany have requested debates on the topic in the United Nations Security Council and put pressure on EU to address the issue, while the Netherlands has more recently launched an annual conference on the subject and has long experience of working with conflict prevention and resolution in relation to transboundary water. There is thus a high-level commitment in these three countries and there is strong reason to believe that this commitment is reflected in their development strategies and programmes. However, while these countries could be regarded as leaders in this policy area, the integration of climate risks is a relatively new field, which means that the organisations themselves are also in the process of developing and assessing the value of different approaches and strategies. Hence, this report analyses what are in most cases incipient attempts at addressing this issue rather than established and well-proven strategies. Even so, there are important lessons to be learnt from the experiences of these organisations.

The empirical material used for this analysis consisted of formal policies, strategies and 24 semi-structured interviews.3 In order to capture the potential problems that may obstruct effective implementation, integration was analysed at the following three levels: (1) High-level thematic policies; (2) geographical tools and strategies; and (3) implementation procedures.⁴ To address the first level the most important thematic policies were reviewed, while for the second level the most important assessments tools and operational plans (such as conflict and climate vulnerability assessments and geographical strategies) were reviewed. While thematic policies offer a general idea of strategic objectives and visions, assessment tools and geographical strategies are closer to concrete practice and programming. In some cases there was restricted access to certain documents (conflict analysis and country strategies), and in those cases it was necessary to rely on interviews to a greater degree than initially planned. Finally, to address the third level and cover factors affecting implementation, procedures such as climate and conflict proofing that must be observed by every project were analysed. In order to identify other factors such as access to information,

_

³ See list of interviews at the end of the report for an overview of the types of informants interviewed for this study.

⁴A limitation of the present analysis is that it does not systematically review programmes and projects, which would have offered a more complete picture of implementation of the policies within the organisations. Such an analysis was beyond the scope of this study.

follow-up procedures and priorities within the organisation that may affect implementation of policy, interviews were conducted with staff members in the three countries. These included employees in the foreign office, development ministries and organisations whose work is focused on peace and conflict and climate change.

This study aims to contribute to the debate on how institutions could deal with the policy challenges posed by combined climate and conflict risks. While there are some previous studies addressing such policy responses at the regional (Youngs 2015) and global level (Hall 2016), there is to our knowledge no other study that investigates how national development organisations have dealt with these issues. By examining both the policy responses and the implementation strategies of three organisations, it was possible to obtain a deeper understanding of the opportunities and challenges to translating these policies into practice. The ambition was to enhance knowledge of different policies and of the factors affecting implementation. This knowledge is essential for the ability of policy makers to assess the value of current Swedish strategies in this regard and to identify how internal organisation and procedures could be improved to better respond to compound risks.

The report is organised in the following way. Following this introduction, Section 2 introduces relevant debates about climate-resilient peace building, conflict-sensitive climate change programming and policy implementation, and explains how these concepts are employed in empirical analysis of the three cases. Sections 3 and 4 discuss climate and conflict policies and implementation strategies in the British and German development cooperation. These sections first describe key policies and then discuss how they have been integrated at different levels in the organisation, with the focus on specific problems that may prevent or delay policy integration within DFID and GIZ. Section 5 discusses the case of the Netherlands, which began to address this issue relatively recently, and is therefore somewhat briefer than Sections 3 and 4. It primarily focuses upon on-going discussions within the Dutch MFA regarding different opportunities and challenges for integrating this issue within existing policies and programmes. Section 6 completes the analysis by comparing the cases and discussing the particular implementation problems identified. Finally, a numbers of lessons for Swedish practitioners and policy makers are presented.

2. Implementation of climate fragility policies in the work of development organisations

As discussed above, there is broad agreement in the literature regarding the need to respond to the combined climate and conflict risks through integrated approaches. While climate-induced security risks require responses and integration at multiple levels and between different policy areas, this study primarily focuses upon two forms of integration: climateresilient peace building and conflict-sensitive climate change programming. Some development organisations have started to integrate climate and conflict risks in their high-level policies and strategies. However, there is a need to know more about how these concepts could be put into practice and implemented in the work of development organisations in a context of fragility. This section first discusses the current understanding of climateresilient peace building and conflict-sensitive climate change programming. Thereafter, the following three factors that affect the implementation of are discussed: organisational structures and procedures, prioritisation and access to information. Finally, two common methods for integration of policy areas are discussed: facilitation of coordination between different policy areas and mainstreaming strategies.

2.1 Climate-resilient peace building

Climate-resilient peace building mostly involves taking short- and long-term climate risks into consideration in peace-building efforts, either as potential drivers of conflict or as factors that may increase vulnerability to conflict (Crawford et al. 2015:1, see also Matthew & Hammill 2013; Matthew 2013). Conflict scholars largely agree that increased stress on livelihoods and unequal distribution of resources could constitute drivers of conflict if local communities lack the capacity to adapt to those changes (Buhaug 2015:272; Barnett 2003:10; Nordås & Gleditsch 2007:634). Hence, to prevent the emergence of new tensions or the intensification of on-going conflicts, it is important to work proactively with assessing potential risks and adopt the necessary mitigation and/or adaptation measures. For development actors involved in the construction of peace, this means that they must start to pay

attention to climate risks in their work and consider how could this be achieved in practice.

Crawford et al. (2015:11) outline six principles for integrating climate risks into peace-building activities, namely: (1) Use integrated context analysis as the foundation for planning, (2) balance immediate and long-term priorities, (3) address climate-natural resource-conflict linkages, (4) facilitate coordination across disciplines, sectors and levels, (5) adopt a forward-looking approach to planning, and (6) aim for resilience as an overarching objective.

While these principles are of a relatively general nature, the core message is that climate risks need to be integrated into analytical tools and that planning for conflict prevention and coordination between policy areas needs to be facilitated. For instance, climate risks could be integrated into general procedures for risk assessment and early warning systems, thereby enabling identification of escalating risks for disasters, scarcity of water and food at an early stage, which under some conditions could trigger migration and social conflicts, and formulation of plans to avoid these. Conversely, conflict considerations must be integrated into climate change activities.

2.2 Conflict-sensitive climate change programming

Conflict-sensitive climate change programming means that responses to climate change should not increase the risk of conflict and in the best case even help strengthen peace-building processes (Crawford et. al. 2015:1; Babcicky 2013:486). In this context, there is an ongoing debate regarding the risk of maladaptation. Simply put, the argument goes that if climate programmes are not conflict-sensitive, they could in themselves have negative impacts and create insecurity over land tenure, marginalisation of minority groups, increased environmental degradation and loss of biodiversity (Rüttinger et al. 2015:64; Tänzler 2013:29). If so, livelihood insecurities, competition over natural resources and conflict propensity could increase as a consequence of well-intentioned policies (see also Barnett & O'Neil 2010). There are multiple examples of mitigation projects (primarily REDD+) that have triggered local tensions, as well as adaptation efforts that have not taken the local context into account and reinforced the power of local elites. The minimum standard should therefore be to have procedures and clear guidelines in place to ensure that climate change activities are made conflict-sensitive.

However, to ensure that climate change programmes contribute to peace building in a more positive sense, one could argue that conflict proofing at project level is not enough and that a more overarching approach is required. This is provided for instance by the resilience framework that has been adopted by many organisations. However, some authors suggest that existing resilience methodologies are primarily designed to address disaster risks or external shocks, and are less suitable for addressing conflict. This is because rather than just 'bouncing back' from [external] shocks or stresses, sustainable peace requires some kind of transformation of internal conflict structures (McCandles & Simpson 2015:14). Hence, in order to address combined climate and conflict risks, careful analysis and transformation of conflict structures needs to be included by existing resilience assessment tools. One of the tasks in the present empirical analysis was therefore to try to analyse how resilience methodologies in the three case organisations address and include conflict analysis.

In sum, climate-resilient peace building suggests that it is important to integrate climate risks into peacebuilding efforts, while conflict-sensitive climate change programming suggests that it is important to integrate a conflict-sensitive approach into climate change programmes. However, it appears to be difficult to implement these processes in development strategies and programming.

2.3 Implementing integrated approaches

The policy study literature demonstrates that policy implementation is far from a top-down administrative process. As various scholars (e.g. Wilson 1991; Lipsky 1980) have shown, policies are often negotiated and modified by staff members during the implementation process. There are a number of factors that could pose problems and obstacles to effective implementation of a policy. Analysis of the literature indicates that the following categories of potential problems are particularly important: (1) Unclear policy objectives; (2) having various actors involved in policy implementation; (3) organisational values and interests; (4) relative autonomy of the implementing actors and (5) access to information.⁵

Unclear policy objectives are discussed for instance in Lipsky's (1980) work on street-level bureaucrats. He shows how staff members often have discretionary power and room for making their own interpretations. As Barrett (2004:255) explains, while some policies (for example health and safety) require strict compliance, others permit greater scope for innovation within the limits of certain procedural rules. In development organisations, work pressure on staff members is often high and there are a number of requirements from head office and demands from a range of other actors at local and national level, who may have their own agendas. In this context,

_

⁵The first four factors are taken from Barrett (2004:252).

personnel are likely to invent different strategies to cope with uncertainties and high work pressure, which may reduce the likelihood of a policy being implemented as intended.

Having various actors involved in policy implementation often leads to difficulties in communicating and coordinating actions (Barrett 2004:252). For instance, it is very important to establish which actor has the ultimate responsibility and decision-making authority. It is also difficult to achieve coordination between various actors or organisational units whose work is thematically distant. The topic dealt with in this report requires units within development organisations that are tasked with peace-building work to coordinate their efforts with units working on climate change. However, these units normally have little experience of coordinating their work.

Organisational values and interests may also create problems with different policy interpretations and priorities, which affects implementation. As several studies have shown, policy change often requires organisational and cultural changes, and until a policy can be implemented in the 'normal' way of doing things, the status quo is likely to remain (Barrett 2004:256). For instance, peace-building units often focus upon large-scale political conflicts and are therefore less likely to take into account the more low-intensive, communal conflicts that researchers foresee emerging as a consequence of climate change and variability. It is particularly important to create commitment among staff members, for instance through training courses or internal campaigns, when changes in their normal ways of doing things are required.

Relative autonomy of the implementing actors could make it difficult to follow up whether policies are implemented. Mechanisms for follow-up and monitoring of results could then be important to ensure compliance. In development co-operation, the implementing actors are often other organisations and in some cases sovereign states, which means that there is very little control over implementation. Even so, there are internal procedures in relation to different assessments and evaluations that need to be implemented by staff members within the organisation.

Access to information is an important dimension for addressing climate and conflict risks. Staff members need information and capacity to engage in analysis of compound risks. Various researchers point to the lack of reliable policy-relevant information regarding the impacts of climate change on local livelihoods, disaster and conflict risks (Lewis & Lenton 2015:387; Ide & Scheffran 2014:266-267; Birkmann & Teichman 2010). Without useful information, it is difficult for policy makers and staff members to act upon climate and security risks. Development organisations could for instance create external or internal help desks, and in that way support staff members.

Summing up, there are a number of problems that need to be overcome in order to integrate climate and conflict considerations in the work of development organisations. To resolve these problems, policy objectives must be clear, coordination between policy areas must be strengthened, staff members need information and there should be some kind of follow-up mechanism.

There are two concrete strategies that development organisations could use when faced with the constraints listed above in order to strengthen integration of one perspective into another. These are: facilitation of coordination between policy areas and mainstreaming.

2.3.1 Facilitation of coordination between policy areas

An important obstacle to effectively responding to climate-induced security challenges is that it requires coordination and information from largely separate policy areas and implementing actors. These actors have their own organisational structures and cultures, which affects how they interpret and implement policy. Researchers have therefore suggested that staff members from different communities such as conflict, climate change, development and disaster risk management need to come together to share their knowledge, develop joint risk analysis and coordinate their actions (see for instance Crawford et al. 2015:7). Creating steering groups or delegating the responsibility to public policy consultancies are ways of achieving this. Most important, however, is to create forums where staff members from different communities could meet and share experiences and develop joint analysis and coordination.

2.3.2 Climate- and conflict-proofing development programmes

Within organisations, mainstreaming is often used for ensuring that a policy which is essential for an organisation is integrated into analytical tools and programming. Mainstreaming strategies mean that the responsibility for implementing the policy is spread out to the entire organisation. An alternative implementation strategy would be to delegate the authority for the policy to an expert unit with specially trained people who have implementation of this policy as their sole responsibility. The expert unit can still be present and serve as an advisory role to other entities, but without being responsible for the implementing the policy (Uggla 2007:10). In an evaluation of Sida's mainstreaming policies, Uggla identified three requirements for effective implementation. First, all staff members need to have the necessary capabilities for making informed considerations. Second, all personnel must be committed to adapting to the requirements of the policy; capabilities could be increased through training and help desks, while

internal campaigns could enhance staff commitment. Third, it is also important to create some kind of administrative control through procedures for follow-up and oversight (Uggla 2007:10-11). However, even if these requirements are met, some of the obstacles discussed above could prevent effective implementation. For instance, if the policy is unclear or unfeasible or if staff members are overloaded with work and different priorities, they are less likely to give sufficient attention to mainstreaming procedures.

The following sections draw on the discussions above to analyse how DFID, GIZ and the Dutch MFA work with integration of climate and conflict risks.

3. Responses of UK development organisations to climate-induced security risks

The UK addressed the security implications of climate change early on. The Foreign Office and the Ministry of Defence (MoD) have taken an important role in shaping a discourse that is heavily orientated towards national security threats, while the Department for International Development (DFID) has made efforts to mainstream climate risks in peace-building efforts and has also tried to work in an integrated manner with risk management through resilience methodologies. The present analysis examines how DFID's thematic policies have been translated into analytical tools and geographical strategies. The purpose is to identify potential obstacles that explain the existing disconnection between policies and other tools and procedures closer to the implementation of programmes and projects. As background, a brief introduction to how the climate and security debate emerged in the UK is first presented.

3.1 Emergence of the climate and security debate in the UK

In the early 2000s, the British Foreign and the Commonwealth Office (FCO) and MoD started to take an interest in how climate change could affect national security. As described by by an informant who formeraly was employed at the Foreign and Commonwealth Office, the framing of climate change in terms of a security threat was initially a strategy on the part of FCO to enter into conversation with conservative climate change deniers in the US.⁶ However, continued engagement by FCO has meant that today climate change is frequently referred to as a significant threat in key security strategies (HM Government 2015a). In the UK's National Security Strategy from 2015, there is for instance a section in which climate change is described as "one of the biggest long-term challenges for the future of our planet. It leads to and exacerbates instability overseas, including through resource stresses, migration, impact on trade, and global and economic food insecurity." (HM Government 2015b:66). This quote clearly illustrates how

⁶Interview former employe at Foreign and Commonwealth Office, UK, 24 February 2016.

climate risks are perceived as an issue that needs to be addressed in national security strategies.

An early initiative to discuss climate risks in a conventional security context took place in 2007, when FCO took the initiative for the very first debate within the United Nation Security Council (UNSC) on climate change from a perspective of global peace and security. Two years later, in 2009, UNSC followed up the meeting by adopting a resolution – Climate Change and its possible Security Implications (UNSC 2009a) and the Secretary General of the United Nations wrote a report with the same name (UNGA 2009b). The British FCO, in coalition with primarily Germany and France, has also played an influential role in addressing the issue within the European Union (EU) and the G7 group. The FCO has also commissioned several reports that have focused on assessment of climate risks from a perspective of national security, but also of economics (see for instance Garman & Fox Carney 2016; King et al. 2015; PWC 2013). This connection to national security and economics could possibly explain why climate change has been given so much attention in the British political debate during some periods.

Another important explanation for the UK's engagement in climate change and security risks is the political leadership, which has led to increased prioritisation within FCO and DFID during certain periods. As mentioned before, political prioritisation could mean that the organisation contributes additional resources and offers support for ensuring implementation of a policy. Andrew Mitchell was the Secretary of State for International Development between 2010 and 2012 and played an important role for the higher prioritisation of climate change within different areas of DFID's work during these years. DFID's Business Plan 2011-2015 contained a commitment to make programmes more climate smart (DFID 2011d), and in 2012 the so-called "future fit" initiative was introduced to develop and strategy for DFID's response to the challenges and opportunities that climate change poses for development. More concretely, the International Climate Fund (ICF) was created in 2010.8 In addition, the number of climate advisors was significantly increased, from 10 to 75-80, which meant that 10% of advisors were then focusing on climate change. 9 Together, this constituted a broader cadre of staff with knowledge of climate change and greater interest in developing approaches that involve integration of climate change considerations in development programming within DFID. However, as

_

⁷In 2013, the UK, together with Pakistan, requested anew that climate and security should be addressed at a so-called Arria-formula meeting, a very informal, confidential meeting within UNSC.

⁸Through the ICP fund, GB£3.8 billion were invested over a period of five years.

⁹Interview with employee at the Profession of Environment and Climate change at DFID, UK, 6 January 2016.

elaborated upon below, this does not necessarily mean that climate risks have been integrated in peace-building efforts.

3.2 Climate-resilient peacebuilding

Contributing to peace and stability in conflict-affected and fragile states has become an important strategic priority for DFID in recent years (DFID & HM Treasury 2015:7). In terms of organisational structures, it is also important to mention that DFID's work in the area of peace and conflict has increasingly become integrated with that of FCO and MoD during the past decade. These ministries have together developed joint assessment tools, organisational structures and funding instruments. While this is in line with recommendations for development and foreign policies actors to work in a more integrated manner, it is important to analyse how climate risks have been integrated in this work. Below the integration of climate risks at the three main levels identified for analysis in this report (i.e. high-level policies, analytical tools and geographical strategies and implementation procedures) is discussed.

3.2.1 Integration of climate risks in DFID's peace and security policies

In the Building Stability Overseas (BSO) strategy, which was published in 2011, DFID together with FCO and MoD presented an integrated crosssectoral approach for conflict prevention and outlined a strategy for integrating development programmes with diplomatic efforts and defence engagements. In the BSO strategy, climate change is mentioned incidentally as a factor that "may increase the potential for conflict over disputed land and water" (DFID et al. 2011:10). While climate risks are mentioned, they are not a prioritised topic in the strategy. In DFID's paper Building Peaceful States and Societies, which describes DFID's strategy in fragile and conflictaffected states, even less attention is given to climate risks. That paper emphasises the importance of addressing the underlying causes and effects of conflict and fragility, but climate risks are not explicitly mentioned as one of the factors that could trigger conflict and fragility (2010a:14). Hence, although climate risks are mentioned in the BSO, they are clearly not given any priority in other policy documents. This is certainly surprising, given the sustained engagement by FCO and MOD on the topic.

3.2.2 Integration of climate risks in conflict assessments and operational plans

To examine whether the BSO's identification of climate risks as a potential trigger of competition for natural resources is reflected in conflict assessments and geographical strategies, it is first necessary to describe two important changes in term of organisational coordination between the three ministries that at least hypothetically could allow increased integration of climate and conflict considerations. The first important change in terms of coordination across policy areas was the creation of the so-called Stabilisation Unit, which promotes collaboration between these three departments to coordinate their work in fragile and conflict-affected states. This work is primarily directed towards large-scale, violent conflicts. The second change was the creation of a cross-departmental conflict analysis methodology, known as Joint Analysis of Conflict and Stability (JACS), which is intended to guide interventions in conflict-affected and fragile states. JACS is still on a relatively general and overarching level and is specified in operational plans developed for each country. While DFID developed the preceding methodology on its own, JACS was developed in collaboration between DFID, FCO and MoD. This kind of coordination across policy areas and integrated conflict analysis is actually in line with Crawford et al.'s (2015:11) recommendations for ensuring climate-resilient peace building. However, it is also necessary to examine the kinds of advisors (conflict and/or climate) represented in the Stabilisation Unit and what the formal requirements are regarding the integration of climate risks.

As regards the competence on climate change available within the Stabilisation Unit, at the highest level of representation of the three ministries climate risks are not included as an explicit area of work. Moreover, the units that represent the three ministries are more focused on conventional, large-scale conflicts. For instance, DFID is represented by the Conflict, Humanitarian and Security Department (CHASE), which primarily concentrates on on-going, large-scale conflicts. This is important, as various conflict scholars (e.g. Van Baalen & Mobjörk 2016; Buhaug 2015:272; Barnett 2003:10; Nordås & Gleditsch 2007:634) have demonstrated that it is primarily these kinds of low-intensity conflicts that are likely to emerge as a consequence of climate change and variability. Moreover, CHASE has just one climate advisor, 10 which is likely to be insufficient for systematically analyse climate risks. Finally, there are no climate advisors among the analysts and staff members responsible for daily work in the Stabilisation Unit.11 Under these circumstances, the capabilities and commitment among staff members to address climate risks seem to be very limited.

¹⁰Interview with employee at CHASE, DFID, UK, 23 December 2016.

¹¹Group interview with a cross-government team involved in the JACS, UK, 7 January 2016.

The lack of focus on climate risks is also reflected in the JACS. For instance, there is no formal requirement to include climate risks in JACS (CSSF 2016). However, in some cases the group responsible for JACS has on its own initiative included climate risks among the other conflict-triggering factors. In one such case of a JACS in 2015, concerning the Sahel region, climate change was identified as one of six factors that drive conflict and instability in the region. According to the Unit's report on the Sahel region, climate change constitutes a threat multiplier by for instance exacerbating the problem of chronic food insecurity and creating heat stress.¹² In an interview with the the cross-government team involved in the JACS for the Sahel region, the members explained that even though there is no requirement on taking climate change into account in the JACS, they decided to include climate risks after having distributed an early draft among experts on the Sahel region. They followed expert advice and included climate advisors in the group that developed the report.¹³ However, group members also reported that they were interested in integrating climate risks, but that there was a lack of information on these risks and of practical guidelines on how to integrate them. These examples clearly illustrate the importance of bringing in new perspectives in assessments and ensuring that conflict teams are provided with information on climate risks.

The inclusion of climate risks in JACS is important for several reasons. First, it opens the way to identifying conflict risks that could affect the UK's strategic prioritisation and programming. Various informants suggested that there is currently a focus on on-going conflicts and large-scale security threats, which makes it difficult to address less acute and long-term issues such as climate change. They emphasised the importance of methodological tools that could capture how climate risks might affect countries such as Bangladesh and Myanmar where there is no on-going large-scale conflict, but more low-intensity forms of insecurity and instability. For certain, one could easily envisage that identifying and addressing climate risks at an early stage is crucial for avoiding human insecurities and escalating social tensions that could be politically exploited. As some informants emphasised, in on-going conflicts such as in Syria, it is already too late to act upon climate risks, even though it might be important to take into account how climate change and variability affect the country in a post-conflict process.¹⁴ Based on available evidence, it can therefore be concluded that addressing

_

¹² As the JACS are classified as 'official sensitive' I did not have access to the document, but informants described the content in interviews. Interview with an employee at CHASE, DFID, UK, 23 December 2016.

¹³ Group interview with a cross-government team involved in the JACS, UK, 7 January 2016. ¹⁴ Interview with an employee at CHASE, DFID, UK, 23 December 2016. Interview with an employee at GIZ, Germany, 23 March 2016.

climate risks in JACS is one possible means to work in a more preventative way in countries where there is no on-going conflict or humanitarian crisis.

Second, if climate risks are identified as a security threat in JACS, this also opens the way for funding for projects that address climate change from the Conflict Security and Stability Fund (CSSF), which is a relatively important funding instrument. Otherwise, climate change projects would have to be funded from climate funds earmarked for climate change adaptation or resilience, which, as discussed below, generally lack a focus on conflict prevention and resolution. However, an informant at DFID, who contributed climate expertise to the JACS for the Sahel region, argues that including climate risks in the JACS is not enough to guarantee that the analysis will be translated into concrete projects on the ground. This would require people working in the country offices to formulate project calls in which climate risks are included as a component. How project calls are formulated is important within DFID, as it is difficult to propose a project that falls outside the criteria of a call. One important problem that the same informant also mentioned is that climate advisors are in general rarely hired in fragile and conflict-affected states where other short-term and more urgent problems tend to overload programme officers.15 Two other informants confirmed that in conflict-affected societies in general, short-term goals relating to on-going conflicts and the protection of civilians often need to be prioritised.¹⁶ This view was confirmed by the informants within the cross-government team involved in the JACS in the Sahel, who argued that even though climaterelated environmental change constitutes a significant threat in the specific case of the Sahel region, it is outside the priority of their work. In their view, the CSSF funding for the Sahel region is limited and must be focused on urgent issues such as peace building, conflict reduction and border security.¹⁷ They also suggest that climate change is already funded elsewhere. Hence, even though climate risks are included in conflict analysis, they are not necessarily addressed in an integrated way. In the subsequent phases, staff members often feel the pressure to prioritise short-term, pressing issues. Moreover, there is often a lack of capability to make assessments on potential links between climate and conflict risk at the level of implementation of programmes.

Another important type of strategy document is the so-called operational plans, a type of country strategy that DFID develops and updates each year. While JACS guides more overarching strategic policies and prioritisations, operational plans are closer to activities on the ground, as progress in

-

¹⁵ Interview employee at CHASE, DFID, UK, 23 December 2015.

¹⁶ Interview with an employee at CHASE, DFID, UK, 23 December 2015, Group interview with a cross-government team involved in the JACS, UK, 7 January 2016.

¹⁷ Group interview with a cross-government team involved in the JACS, UK, 7 January 2016.

relation to development objectives is measured against these plans. In the guidelines for operational plans, there is a formal requirement to describe how interventions are 'climate smart' and contribute to delivering low carbon climate resilient growth" (DFID 2010e). However, there is no requirement to examine climate change from a conflict perspective.

As with JACS, in some operational plans climate-related risks have been identified as a driver of insecurity. For instance, the operational plan for Sudan describes how DFID has created a new Environmental Governance and Conflict Mitigation Programme for addressing "natural resource conflicts and help poor people cope with the effects of climate change" (2014:6). In a similar vein, the operational plan for Bangladesh suggests that it is necessary to address climate change in order to contribute to security and prosperity (2014:6). In contrast, in the operational plan for Kenya climate risks are mentioned, but without connection to conflict risks, while climate risks are hardly given any attention at all in the operational plan for Mali, which is surprising given the magnitude of climate-related risks in that country. Hence, while there are no formal requirements to take climate risks into account in JACS and operational plans, these analytical tools are intended to identify underlying causes of conflict and the people responsible for developing these reports have included the climate risks aspect on their own initiative in some cases. The integration of climate risks is thus to large extent dependent upon the assessment of the individual analyst. Climate risks are obviously not relevant in all contexts and by introducing climate risks in general assessments such JACS, an important tool is created for identifying when further attention needs to be paid to these risks.

3.2.3 Implementation level –mandatory screening

At the implementation level of projects and programmes, two pivotal questions arise: What are the formal requirements for taking climate change into account in the development of peace and conflict programmes? What are the potential problems in implementing these procedures and instruments? Already in 2006, DFID expressed a commitment to developing guidance with the multi-lateral development banks by 2008 to screen all development investments for the effects of climate change (DFID 2006:59). The most important instrument for integrating climate change is the so-called Climate and Environment Appraisal (CEA) process, a kind of mainstreaming strategy introduced in 2010. The CEA made it mandatory for all DFID projects to include an assessment of the potential climate risks and opportunities (DFID 2012:3). In that sense, it has similarities to the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) procedure, with the difference that climate risks are included.

The CEA was a relatively ambitious screening instrument for ensuring that climate risks were integrated into programming. Each programme had to be revised and approved by a special unit of climate and environmental advisors. Programmes were categorised according the degree of their climate risks and a statement was made on whether further monitoring was required during the life cycle of the project (DFID 2012:1). An employee at DFID, believes that the screening helped generate awareness of the importance of climate and environment risks and opportunities within DFID. However, as he argues:

Only on a few occasions have they taken that [the climate risks] forward in an analysis that said, "what does that mean for your agricultural or industrial production or whatever?". So the risk has been identified but you have not necessarily taken the following analytical steps and said "what should therefore change in order to address those risks?". 18

His assessment is confirmed by an evaluation of the identification of climate risks in DFID's project documentation in three countries, which found that climate risks are recognised in 88% of projects, but that some additional action in relation to managing the expected climate-related risks to projects in the future is included in only 30% of projects (Ranger et al. 2014:476). This is an important finding, but it is also crucial to ask *why* staff members do not integrate climate risks even when they have been identified within the CEA process. One informant at DFID suggested that the problem is that there is no follow-up mechanism for ensuring that the identified climate risks are addressed in programme activities. As he puts it:

No one really asks the question "okay, you're conflict advisor, but how have you mainstreamed climate into your programme?". I have never seen that. It's about the incentives, you have to get the incentives right. There are no real incentives for individuals to do it otherwise. ¹⁹

Hence, the CEA process has raised the awareness about climate risks, but these risks have only been integrated at a superficial level in programming. While lack of follow-up and oversight seem to be an important explanation behind this, one could also speculate about other factors that could hamper further integration. For instance, the DFID could perhaps have worked more actively with increasing the knowledge and commitment of staff members by providing training courses and internal campaigns, or the climate and

¹⁸Interview with employee at the Profession of Environment and Climate change at DFID, UK, 6 January 2016.

¹⁹ Interview with employee at CHASE, DFID, UK, 23 December, 2015.

environmental advisors could perhaps have offered staff members even more support in programme development.

In 2014, the CEA screening process was withdrawn within DFID. An employee at DFID argues that the most important reason was that the mandatory screening required very much time and resources and that even in cases where it was obvious that climate impacts were not relevant, it was necessary to go through the process.²⁰ This is undoubtedly a reasonable argument, as development organisations need to address multiple urgent issues. However, other informants suggested that the reason for the withdrawal was the lack of prioritisation of climate change within the current Conservative government.²¹ Based on these contradictory statements, it is difficult to determine what might be the real underlying reasons for the withdrawal.

Instead of the CEA, DFID today employs a form of technical guidelines, the so-called smart rules, which require that a general risk assessment is conducted. The guidelines for the risk assessment make no specific reference to climate change. However, it can be noted that it continues to be mandatory to take gender equality into account in all programmes (rules 7 & 8, DFID 2016a:11). An employee at DFID argues that climate change should be taken into account only when it is relevant, which would mean that resources could be used more efficiently.²² At the same time, one could easily envisage climate risks being overlooked, since there is nothing to guarantee that climate risks are considered in the initial analysis. This is reinforced by the well-known experience that long-term challenges are easily are overlooked or downplayed (Crawford et al. 2015:11).

To conclude, even though there is increased coordination of policies and organisational structures between UK departments engaged in conflict and security, this does not necessarily mean that the perspective on potential causes of conflicts has been broadened to include climate risks. While climate change is identified as a potential driver of conflict in high-level policy documents such as the BSO report, there is currently no formal requirement to take climate risks into account in conflict analysis, operational plans and programme development. Still, it appears as though the former mandatory screening raised awareness of climate risks within the different parts of the organisations, and there are various examples of

 $^{^{20}}$ Interview with employee at the Profession of Environment and Climate change at DFID, UK, 6 January 2016.

²¹Interview with employee at the CHASE, DFID, UK, 23 December, 2015. Still, just before the climate summit in Paris, the UK government committed itself to increase its climate funding by 50% for the five coming years, to GB£5.8 billion (DFID 2015:19).

²² Interview with employee at the Profession of Environment and Climate change at DFID, UK, 6 January 2016.

voluntary initiatives to take climate risks into account. However, the analysis also suggests that follow-up or oversight mechanisms are important for guaranteeing that identified risks are translated into programming.

3.3 Conflict sensitivity of DFID's resilience work

Having examined how climate risks are integrated in peace-building efforts, we can now look more closely at how the conflict dimension has been integrated in DFID climate change programming. DFID has to a large extent addressed climate change through resilience policies and methodologies. Under the resilience framework, DFID has tried to integrate different thematic areas such as climate change, humanitarian aid and poverty reduction and, to some extent, conflict. DFID departs from a common understanding of resilience, which defines resilience as "the ability of systems, countries, communities and households to manage change, by maintaining or transforming living standard in the face of shocks or stresses such as earthquakes, weather extremes or violent conflict - without compromising their long-term prospects" (DFID 2016b). Violent conflict is thus included in DFID's understanding of resilience. However, as discussed above, resilience methodologies were initially designed to address disaster risks or external shocks, and to less extent to address conflicts (McCandles & Simpson 2015:14). It is therefore interesting to investigate how conflict sensitivity is addressed in DFID's resilience policies.

3.3.1 Resilience policies within DFID

An important starting point for the increased attention to resilience within DFID was the publication of the Humanitarian Emergency Response Review (HERR) in 2011. Resilience was one of seven themes²³ that HERR identified as crucial for improving humanitarian aid in fragile and conflict-affected states. In general terms, HERR envisions integration of climate change, disaster risk management, poverty reduction and conflict under the framework of resilience. In the government's response to HERR, the importance of adopting the necessary changes for putting resilience into practice as a central part of DFID's development work was emphasised (DFID & UKAID 2011a:8). Furthermore, the same document was embedding disaster resilience building first in a number of priority countries,²⁴ and by 2015 in all DFID country programmes. However, there are no more concrete proposals concerning the implementation of this process, which makes it difficult to evaluate the progress.

²³The others were anticipation, resilience, leadership, innovation, accountability and impact, partnership and humanitarian space.

²⁴In the first round Ethiopia, Kenya, Malawi, Mozambique, Bangladesh and Nepal, and then Pakistan, Niger, Chad, South Sudan, Zimbabwe and Myanmar (DFID & UKAID 2011a:9).

In the UK Government's Humanitarian Policy, Saving lives, preventing suffering and building resilience (DFID & UKAID 2011b), "build resilience to disasters and conflict" is one of seven policy goals, which suggests that DFID is seeking to develop a joint framework for dealing with climate and conflict risks. The Humanitarian Policy also explains how resilience could be achieved in different contexts. In conflict settings the importance of strengthening political structures at the community level is emphasised, as well as the need to conduct strategic conflict analysis in order to improve conflict sensitivity (DFID & UKAID 2011b:10).

In a DFID approach paper on disaster risk management, it is emphasised that the resilience approach holds the promise of improving the coordination between different policy areas, and in particular between development and humanitarian work (DFID 2011c). This document also states that the climate change team has advanced the most in adopting the resilience approach, while it is acknowledged that conflict prevention is an area where the resilience framework has been less well developed within DFID (DFID 2011c). This is in line with recent theoretical debates regarding the difficulty in applying existing resilience frameworks to conflicts.

3.3.2 Resilience methodologies within DFID

Within DFID, both the climate and the humanitarian teams have played important roles in development of resilience methodologies. While the Climate Department has concentrated on risk management and decisionmaking under uncertainty, the Humanitarian Department has focused on planning for and reacting to disasters. In a similar way as, for instance, the World Bank and OECD/DAC, DFID departs from an understanding of resilience as a strategy for understanding risks and risk management (DFID 2016b:1). Even though resilience has been a prioritised topic since 2011 and DFID has put much effort into embedding resilience within the organisation, but the complexity and context sensitivity of resilience makes it still a bit unclear how it should be implemented. In 2015, the Climate and Environment department, was therefore given the responsibility to further operationalise DFID's approach to resilience. One informant at this department argues that one of the problems with resilience is that it is so complex that resilience is sometimes not very helpful in practice. In his view, it is therefore important for DFID "to find out what that [resilience] actually means in practice" and how resilience policies and practices could be put together in a coherent way in order to build resilience to identified threats.²⁵ As well known in the literature, unfeasible and unclear policies can pose considerable problems for effective implementation and they allow

_

²⁵Interview with employee at the Climate and Environment department, 6 January 2016.

staff members to interpret and implement the policy content in ways that were not necessarily intended by policy makers, which could lead to lack of coherence.

The efforts to concretise the concept resulted in an understanding that resilience is intended to "enable people to anticipate, avoid, adapt and respond to crises" (DFID 2016b:1). 'Anticipate' refers to insurances for catastrophe risks and efforts to increase the understanding of risks, for instance of droughts. 'Avoid' refers to investments in infrastructure or projects that will reduce the effects of the shocks. Examples of such investments and projects are employment in activities for preserving the soil, forest governance or infrastructure for facilitating rapid urbanisation processes. 'Adapt' refers to activities to improve the ability of societies to cope with the impacts of climate extremes and disasters, while 'respond' refers to humanitarian aid in disaster situations (DFID 2016b:1).

This way of operationalising resilience clearly links climate, disaster risk reduction and humanitarian aid, but there is a notable absence of references to the conflict dimension. This interpretation is confirmed by Brooks et al. (2014:5), who argue that DFID's resilience framework is primarily focused on identifying external hazards that could have adverse consequences on a system.

One explanation can be found at an overarching conceptual level. Resilience has primarily been used for analysing a society's ability to recover from external shocks, and this focus on external factors could potentially make resilience difficult to apply to conflicts. Conflicts are of a different character, as they are internalised in the social structures and therefore require some kind of transformative change of existing conflict structures (McCandless & Simpson 2015). This requires careful analysis of conflict structures and dynamics, which then need to be included as parts of the resilience analysis. McCandless and Simpson (2015) underline the importance of careful reflection upon how resilience methodologies could be adapted to more comprehensive forms of risks analysis. At the same time, if the framework becomes too broad and complex, it will be difficult for staff members to apply. There is thus a difficult balance to be struck between making a framework sufficiently comprehensive and making it useful as a tool for staff members.

3.3.3 Implementation of the resilience framework in conflict-affected and fragile societies

As described above, DFID's overarching resilience framework focuses on identifying external hazards. At the same time, when country officers are

developing programmes in conflict-affected and fragile societies, there are a number of principles and guidelines that they need to follow in order to avoid doing harm. DFID follows OECD-DACs Principles for Good International Engagement in Fragile States and Situations and has produced a number of briefing papers that support country offices in the development of conflict-sensitive programmes. One prominent message in these briefing papers is the importance of conflict analysis and sensitivity. Careful monitoring of conflict dynamics and how development programmes affect those dynamics is emphasised as critically important, and there are several methodologies for conducting these assessments in fragile and conflict-affected societies (DFID 2002; 2010b; 2010c; 2010d). These guidelines can be regarded as a sort of mainstreaming of conflict sensitivity, in order to avoid doing harm. However, avoiding doing harm is not the same as developing programmes that are designed to address combined climate and conflict risks.

However, as an informant at the Climate and Environment department points out, it would make sense to put more emphasis on fragility and conflict within the resilience framework ahead, as DFID's work is increasingly concentrated to those areas. He argues:

Many things drive conflict: climate and access to resources or lack of access to resources that climate change may have created is one of them. But it is unlikely to be the only one. Therefore I think it is important to think in terms of resilience about those risks. How they are combined together in a sensitive way."²⁶

This quote raises fundamental questions regarding how to modify the resilience framework and risk analysis in order to improve the way in which compound risks are addressed. Development of joint methodologies that capture these risks has yet to be seen, in particular in concrete programming. The so-called Building Resilience and Adaptation to Climate Extremes and Disasters programme (BRACED) is according to one informant at DFID an attempt at developing a new way of operationalising the resilience framework.²⁷ The programme is implemented in 13 countries in South and Southeast Asia and in the African Sahel region, and involves an investment of GB£110 million. As the name of the programme suggests, the focus is on strengthening the resilience to climate extremes and improve the coordination between disaster risk reduction and climate adaptation into

²⁷ Interview with employee at Climate and Environment department, DFID, UK, 6 January 2016.

²⁶Interview with employee at Climate and Environment department, DFID, UK, 6 January 2016.

development approaches (www.braced.org). Even though one programme explicitly addresses conflicts between farmers and pastoralists in the light of changing migration pattern in the Sahel-region, the conflict dimension does not seem to be a key priority in the BRACED programme. BRACED could still be interpreted as an effort to integrate policy areas through the resilience framework.

Summing up, even though the resilience policies opened the way for integration of conflict dimensions in climate change programming, it seems like the resilience methodologies and programming still need to improve how complex challenges related to conflict and fragility risks are addressed. The most important challenge identified is the complexity of resilience and informants argued that introducing even more dimensions would make it more difficult to apply.

This chapter demonstrated that DFID has taken some steps in recent years to address combined climate and conflict risks. However, this ambition is primarily reflected in high-level policies, and less in analytical tools, geographical strategies and implementation strategies. The analysis showed that methodological tools and programmes for addressing conflicts are still separated from efforts to build resilience against disaster risks. This means that, at least until recently, climate risks were primarily dealt with as a mainstreaming issue, but without necessarily affecting the orientation of peace and conflict programmes. In a similar way, in the resilience framework there are supporting methodologies for making projects conflictsensitive, but conflict considerations are not yet fully integrated within the resilience framework, which is also reflected in programming. Hence, on stepping down a level from overarching thematic policies, peace and conflict methods and programmes still do not address climate risks systematically. The resilience framework is, however, an important step in the right direction of addressing complex risks in an integrated manner.

The lack of prioritisation within DFID seems to be an important explanation, with various important implications for the possibility to integrate these issues efficiently. First, there are no climate advisors in the Stabilisation Unit and very few conflict advisors in the Climate and Environment Department, which means that these perspectives are less likely to be present in project planning and monitoring. Second, there seem to be few follow-up mechanisms, which means that staff members have few incentives to put effort into integrating new perspectives in assessment tools and strategies. Finally, a short-term time horizon and lack of information on how climate risks may affect conflict propensity seems to be an important factor preventing staff members from integrating climate risks in peace-building efforts.

4. Responses of German development organisations to climate-induced security risks

Germany was also early in addressing the security implications of climate change. In Germany, the Foreign Office, Federal Environment Ministry and Federal Ministry of Economic Cooperation and Development, together with the think tank adelphi, have during different periods played important roles in addressing the issue at international and national level. The implementing agency for the German development cooperation, GIZ, has also made efforts to operationalise the linkage between climate and security and put it into practice in development programming, primarily through mainstreaming strategies.

This chapter examines GIZ's policies for peace building and climate change, as well as how these policies are translated into different analytical tools and mainstreaming strategies. It also reflects upon potential obstacles related to prioritisation, internal organisational structures, access to information and mechanisms for follow-up and oversight. The section is organised as follows: A brief introduction to how the climate and security debate emerged in Germany is presented, followed by discussions on how climate risks have been integrated in peace-building efforts and how conflict sensitivity has been integrated within GIZ's work on climate and disaster resilience.

4.1 Emergence of climate and security policies in Germany

In Germany the climate and security debate goes back to the mid-1990s, when the Federal Environment Ministry tried to put the environmental drivers behind insecurity and conflict on the agenda of Organisation for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE), the UN Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) and the EU. In the 2000s, the Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ) also commissioned several reports on the topic (GTZ & BMZ 2008; FCO 2007). It was primarily after Frank-Walter Steinmeyer became foreign minister in 2005 that the Foreign Office started to address the topic. However, the

Federal Ministry of Defence has not taken a prominent role.²⁸ Hence in Germany, climate and security policies have been developed by environmental, developmental and foreign policy departments within government rather than by the military side, which is an important difference from the British case.

After the failed climate summit in Copenhagen in 2009, the German MFA tried to find a strategy for re-establishing the negotiation process. In its view, the security discourse was sufficiently compelling to generate interest from high-level policy makers and heads of the state.²⁹ An employee at the German MFA described how they tried to put the topic on the international agenda during this period in different ways, the most important step being by requesting a debate on the topic in UNSC. Germany justified the request by referring to food security and sea-level rise and the threat of human insecurity (UNSC 2011:4). In addition, the MFA approached regional and international organisations such as OECD, OSCE, the African Union, the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) and the EU with the aim of putting climate and security on the agenda of these organisations.

In order to realise these efforts of international outreach in a sustained and coherent manner, the MFA commissioned the German think tank Adelphi to support this work. Moreover, Germany used its G7 presidency to commission the report *A New Climate for Peace*. Currently, Germany is leading an internal process within G7 whereby different countries have been asked to come up with proposals regarding how they will implement the recommendations of the report.³⁰

At the same time as the Foreign Office was endeavouring to put climate change and security on the international agenda, it also sought to deepen awareness of this issue within Germany institutions. This work was again conducted with the support of adelphi, which organised educational conferences, training courses at embassies and internal campaigns (MFA & adelphi 2014). In one informant's view, the combined effect of all these activities is that climate change is generally accepted as an important issue for the Foreign Office.³¹ It is important to acknowledge adelphi's role as an expert unit in this process. As one informant at the MFA puts it:

Without adelphi we would not have been able to do this work because we couldn't just employ people in the Foreign Office.

²⁸Interview with employee at adelphi, Germany, 11 January 2016.

²⁹Interview with employee at the MFA, Germany, 25 January 2016.

³⁰Interview with employee at the MFA, Germany 12 January 2016.

³¹ Interview with employee at the MFA, Germany, 25 January 2016.

They brought in a lot of previous expertise and many networks, and I think they have also been crucial by often reacting extremely rapidly to our requests. We used to ask: 'Can't we do this? Can't we try that?' And so on. They were always very flexible and gave us good groundwork for whatever we were trying to do. Without them it would not have been possible.³²

Adelphi thus functions as an expert unit that continuously offers advice not only to the MFA, but also to BMZ and GIZ. Over the years, BMZ and GIZ have commissioned several reports from adelphi on identifying how the topic could be operationalised within the development cooperation. Adelphi's role as an expert unit to different German institutions is most likely an important explanation for the relatively coherent and sustained efforts to address the topic, in particular within the MFA. However, adelphi's effort to put the topic on the agenda, during some periods with the strong support of policy makers, does not necessarily mean that climate and security has been a main priority that has been effectively translated into analytical tools and programming within GIZ. This becomes evident when looking more closely at how climate risks have been integrated in peacebuilding efforts and how conflict sensitivity has been integrated in climate change programming.

4.2 Climate-resilient peace building

Since a majority of the countries in which GIZ works are affected by conflict, fragility and violence, it is important to support the strengthening of state building and peace building in these countries (BMZ 2013). In doing so, BMZ and GIZ work with an early warning and conflict analysis tool that is implemented at different levels and phases of development programming. An important organisational aspect is that within GIZ, peace, security and disaster risk reduction are located within the same unit (Governance, Crisis Management, Construction), which provides a pathway for strengthening coordination of these policies and programmes. At the same time, the Climate Change unit is separate and also responds to a separate unit with BMZ. As shown below, this internal organisational structure is important in explaining how climate risks are addressed in peace-building efforts.

³² Interview with employee at the MFA, Germany, 25 January 2016.

4.2.1 Integration of climate risks in peace and conflict policies

In the strategy for peace and security from 2013, the linkage between climate change and conflict is clearly outlined. Even though it is not a key topic, climate change is described as one of the factors that may "trigger and perpetuate fragility and violence" (BMZ 2013:12). It is also claimed that integrated approaches, which combine different instruments and address relevant issues such as climate, environment and gender equality are most effective. As disaster risk reduction is located within the same unit, it is also relevant to examine how the link is described in the Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR) strategy (BMZ 2015a). In the DRR strategy, strengthening resilience is a prominent theme, since natural disasters are increasingly caused by climate change. This link made between DRR and climate resilience is hardly surprising, but an interesting aspect of the DRR strategy is that the linkage between climate and conflict is spelled out explicitly:

The consequence of extreme weather events can have a negative impact on weak institutions or violent conflict and reinforce the spiral of violence. Extreme weather events can trigger migration, lead to a loss of already accumulated peace dividends, or fuel competition over scarce resources and thus, exacerbate fragile situations (BMZ 2015a:13).

It is suggested that in addressing these challenges it is essential to integrate climate change adaptation with DRR activities (2015:10). This is emphasised, as effective management of disaster holds the promise of contributing to prevention of crisis and conflicts in fragile and violence-afflicted states. Then at least on a high-level policy level, GIZ's disaster-resilience framework encompasses the conflict dimension. Hence, the linkage between climate change adaptation, disaster risk and conflict is present in both the DRR and the peace and security strategy, even though somewhat more explicitly in the DRR strategy.

There has certainly been interest from both BMZ and GIZ regarding how the unit can operationalise the link between disaster risk management and peace-building efforts. In 2015, BMZ organised a series of workshops focusing on how DRR and peacebuilding efforts could be integrated more closely. One of the informants reported participating in several workshops that focused on the connections between DRR and conflict. More specifically, the workshops discussed how disaster risks affect fragility and how fragility of conflict affects vulnerability to disaster risks. The purpose of the workshops was to formulate a number of recommendations on how to address crosscutting challenges coherently and effectively. As this is an on-going and internal process, it has not resulted in any concrete recommendations.

However, the informant reported that resilience came up in several discussions as a potentially unifying approach.³³

This is interesting, as resilience methodologies not necessarily integrate the conflict dimension. However, an important factor, which could potentially facilitate the integration of conflict and resilience frameworks in the case of GIZ, is that DRR and peace building are located within the same department. This illustrates the importance of internal organisational structure and close coordination for integrating one policy area into another. However, while the linkage is emphasised in high-level policies and the organisational structure provides the opportunity to integrate climate risks, it is still necessary to examine to what extent these policy goals are reflected in analytical tools and geographical strategies and if not, to try to identify why.

4.2.2 Conflict assessments

The peace and security strategy has identified climate risks as a potential trigger of fragility and violence but these need to be included in conflict assessments. Germany has a relatively advanced system of assessing the conflict potential in all partner countries. Since the late 1990s, BMZ has used its own early warning system, with a set of indicators that should make the ministry aware of any risk of conflict.³⁴ If there is such a risk, a country is given a red or yellow label depending upon the degree of risk of escalating conflict. For all countries that are defined as conflict countries, it is mandatory to conduct a peace and conflict assessment, and to include peace building into country strategies and development programmes. However, as Rüttinger et al. explain, the indicators of the early warning system are related to political economics, which means that environmental or climate risks are rarely taken into account (Rüttinger and Carius 2013, cit. Rüttinger et al. 2015:90). Hence, in the first stages when the early warning system operates, it is not mandatory to include climate risks. This is also the case with peace and conflict assessments (GIZ 2013:16). One informant working with peacebuilding processes argues that it is notable that climate risks have not been included in peace and conflict assessments.35

The peace and conflict assessments are currently divided into four different phases (BMZ et al. 2016). At the most general level, a context analysis is conducted in order to identify the most important factors that reinforce conflict, fragility and violence, and to map key actors. As an informant who works with peace building at GIZ describes, if climate impacts were

³³Interview with an employee at GIZ, Germany, 11 December, 2015.

³⁴http://www.bmz.de/en/what_we_do/issues/Peace/crisis_prevention/index.html [accessed 28 March 2016]

³⁵Interview with an employee at GIZ, Germany, 23 March 2016.

obviously related to a conflict they would probably be included in the analysis. However, she argues that the links are often not so obvious and takes Syria as an example.³⁶ Another informant³⁷ cites lack of knowledge as an important factor. This lack of knowledge could to some extent be counteracted by including climate advisors in the process, or by creating help desks that could offer support.

The next step, after conducting the context analysis, is to identify the more specific changes required for strengthening peaceful and inclusive development.³⁸ This phase also assesses whether the development cooperation addresses the themes that are most important for overcoming conflict, fragility and violence. However, if environmental or climate risks are not identified in previous stages as suggested by Rüttinger et al. (2015), it is unlikely that they will be identified at this stage, as context analysis is used as a point of departure for such analysis.

The third step is related to the identification of risks to development cooperation, both in general and at the project level, while the fourth step is related to the impacts of projects themselves, the so-called 'do no harm' principle. This principle is discussed in more detail below in the section on conflict-sensitive climate change programming.

Hence, one could thereby conclude that to work in a more integrated way with climate and conflict risks, one important first step would be to include climate indicators in peace and conflict assessments. Taking these risks into account is important, as it not only enables development actors to work in a preventative way with conflicts, but also increases the likelihood that these risks will be taken into account in country strategies and development programmes. However, this would require BMZ and GIZ to make this issue a priority and invest resources in the development of the early warning system and the peace and conflict assessments.

4.2.3 Implementation level – climate proofing of peace-building projects

Implementation of projects and programme is associated with some formal requirements for taking climate risks into account in the development of peace and conflict programmes. The most important instrument is the

³⁶Interview with employee at GIZ, Germany, 23 March, 2016.

³⁷Interview with employee at GIZ, Germany, 11 December 2016.

³⁸Three questions guide the analysis: 1) What specifically needs to be changed in order to overcome conflict, fragility and violence? 2) What areas of activity should take priority for peaceful and inclusive development? 3) At which levels should the first steps be taken (local, regional, national or international)? (BMZ et al. 2016).

mainstreaming of climate change into all development projects within GIZ, including peace and conflict projects. In 2011, GIZ introduced the so-called Climate Proofing for Development, which in fact has many similarities with the CEA screening process that DFID formerly applied, but withdrew it in 2014. The Climate Proofing process has two main elements: systematic analysis of climate-related risks and opportunities and identification of adequate adaptation measures. The Climate Proofing methodology is relatively well elaborated and is divided into four steps. First, information on climate trends is gathered, while in a second step meetings and workshops are held in order to identify biophysical and socio-economic impacts of climate change on different groups. Third, stakeholders and experts develop adaptation measures, and fourth, these measures are integrated into planning documents (GIZ 2013). These are standard procedures that all projects need to go through.

The Climate Proofing system can be considered a relatively sophisticated and rigorous system. Several informants reported that climate proofing is prioritised issue, as is reflected for instance in the resources invested in ensuring the proper implementation. GIZ has established a relatively large team of climate advisors and also has a separate climate help desk. Several informants emphasised the importance of the help desk, 39 as "it is relatively easy to get support for climate-proofing peace building projects". 40 Another informant in the Climate Change Adaptation unit said that the help desks have been important for ensuring a common approach. He also pointed out that GIZ has worked actively to strengthen the commitment among staff by specifying the relevance of climate risks for each sector and country. In his view, this is an indicator of the high-level support for climate proofing within GIZ.41 It is well known that prioritisation is crucial for making mainstreaming strategies work properly. However, the system also has clear disadvantages, as several informants suggested that mainstreaming policies exert a heavy burden in the process of developing a new project. 42 As an employee at GIZ, puts it:

The burden and the expectations are extremely high and adding more expectations, or even raising the benchmark or the

2

³⁹Interview with employee at the climate change department at GIZ, Germany, 9 February 2016.

Interview with employee at GIZ, Germany, 23 March, 2016.

Interview with employee at GIZ, Germany, 25 Kincen, 2016.

Interview with employee at the climate change department at GIZ, Germany, 19 February 2016.

⁴² Interview with employee at the climate change department at GIZ, Germany, 9 February 2016. Interview with employee at the climate change department at GIZ, Germany, 19 February 2016. The latter also said that GIZ has received criticism from the internal audit administration of the German government about the process of developing new programmes being too complex

expectations in terms of these different mainstreaming topics, is not feasible.

In a similar vein, an external analyst argued "the tools that GIZ are using for the programmes are, I would say, too complicated and too complex. You have to make heavy investments in order to work that through."

This shows that GIZ has made climate proofing a priority and has invested resources in ensuring implementation. However, the system also puts high demands on staff and it is therefore important to consider how one priority could be weighed against another in order to focus on the most relevant problems in each context.

Another important aspect to bear in mind is that climate proofing as it is designed can only ensure that the "do no harm" principle is followed. There is no requirement for peace-building programmes to be modified in order to contribute in a positive way to combined climate and conflict risks. To do so, it would be necessary to change the way questions are asked. In the view of an informant at the MFA, it would be important for GIZ to integrate climate risks in order to better address the underlying causes of conflict and instability. Other informants working with peace building also confirmed that in general, little attention was given to climate risks within peace and security programming. According to one informant, an important explanation for this lies in the internal organisational structure:

Part of the problem is that there is a structural division between climate change and conflict within GIZ. No-one is working on it [combined climate and conflict risks]. It is a cross-sectoral issue that we do not look at in-depth, but rather from the side.⁴⁵

To conclude, in a similar way as in DFID, in GIZ climate change is identified as a potentially important driver of conflict in high-level policy documents. However, it is still not mandatory to take climate risks into account in different types of conflict analysis, which is also reflected in the fact that there are very few projects that address issues at the interface of climate change, natural resources and conflict. Still, it seems as though climate-proofing has improved the procedures for reducing the negative impacts of peace-building programmes on climate change. One important potential explanation for this disconnection between high-level policies and implementation is the internal organisational structure. To address issues that

⁴³Interview with employee at adelphi, Germany, 22 February, 2016.

⁴⁴ Interview with former employee at the MFA, Germany, 25 January, 2016.

⁴⁵Interview with an employee at GIZ, Germany, 11 December, 2015.

are at the interface of different units, it is necessary to create new forms of coordination between the climate change unit and the peace and conflict unit. Unless there is top-level prioritisation within the organisation, such coordination is unlikely to take place. Another important aspect is the knowledge gap regarding the link between climate change and conflict, which makes it difficult for policy makers to translate policies into concrete analytical tools and strategies.

4.3 Conflict-sensitive climate change programming

In 2014, Germany topped the list of donors to climate change-related development funding.⁴⁶ Germany transfers these funds primarily (81%) through bilateral cooperation in nearly 50 countries. The funds are invested in mitigation and adaptation projects and in protection of biodiversity through REDD+ programmes.⁴⁷ The following sections look more closely at how conflict risks are integrated in GIZ climate change policies and analytical tools such as vulnerability assessments.

4.3.1 GIZ climate programming and debates about the link to migration

GIZ has a Climate Change unit that is responsible for implementing programmes related to mitigation and adaptation. However, even though the mandate for these issue-areas are located in different units. The DRR team is located within the same unit as the peace and conflict team. Against this background, it is interesting to note the difference between how the Climate Change and DRR units have addressed the linkage between climate change and risk of conflict. While DRR policy puts emphasis on the links between climate change, disaster and violent conflicts, there are no such references to conflict in climate change documents. Here it should be noted that GIZ has no official climate change policy, but a few publications where the orientation of its work is described and the nexus between food, water and energy security is incidentally referred to.⁴⁸ Another observation is that the resilience concept is referred to in DRR policy, while in the climate change documents there is no reference to resilience. This suggests that in contrast to DFID, which has made efforts to introduce resilience as an overarching framework for different units (primarily Climate Change, Humanitarian Aid

⁴⁶https://public.tableau.com/views/Climate-Related-

Aid_new/Recipientperspective?:embed=y&:show

Tabs=y&:display count=no?&:showVizHome=no#1. Accessed 23 February 2016.

⁴⁷BMUB and BMZ (2015). *International Climate Finance: Germany's contribution*. Berlin/Bonn.

⁴⁸BMZ (2015). Climate action in practice: The contribution of German development policy. Bonn/Berlin. p. 19.

and DRR), in GIZ there is as yet no such framework that could strengthen the integration of different policy areas.

However, two informants at GIZ reported that more recently, as a consequence of large-scale migration to Europe, there has been some discussion regarding the importance of working in a more integrated way with issues related to climate change, conflict prevention/resolution and migration in development programmes in partner countries.⁴⁹ It is important to emphasise that these discussions are very much in line with conflict research describing the indirect links between migration and violence (Van Baalen & Mobjörk 2016). Still, this debate is relatively recent within GIZ and it is difficult to say whether it will result in any concrete changes. However, there are some programmes in Bangladesh that address the linkages between climate change, conflict and migration.⁵⁰ This suggests that there is still room for improving GIZ's work in this regard by elaborating upon those links and concretising how they could be addressed systematically in strategies and programming. Nevertheless, integrating this issue requires it to be prioritised within the organisation. However, one informant suggested that while the large-scale migration has created momentum for addressing the links between climate change, conflict, and migration, not only in German national politics, but also within development cooperation, the topic still does not seem to have top priority within GIZ.⁵¹ Hence, without a change of priorities at the top levels within BMZ and GIZ, the policies and directives are unlikely to change. The vulnerability assessments that are employed for climate mitigation and adaptation projects are considered next.

4.3.2 Vulnerability assessments

The equivalence to resilience methodologies within GIZ is the vulnerability assessments that are the standard procedure in GIZ climate change programming. Vulnerability assessments are conducted to identify climate change impacts and are intended to guide adaptation and development planning at different levels, as well as the monitoring and evaluation of those activities (BMZ 2014). In that sense, vulnerability assessments also contribute to evaluating a society's resilience to climate change. While socio-economic conditions (such as livelihoods, education, health, natural resource dependency) are taken into account, the indicators and guiding questions do not include references to conflict propensity (BMZ 2014:43).

⁴⁹Interview with employee at the climate change department at GIZ, Germany, 9 February 2016. Interview with employee at GIZ, Germany, 23 March, 2016. employees at GIZ (9 February & 23 March, 2016).

⁵⁰Interview with employee at the climate change department at GIZ, Germany, 9 February 2016. Interview with employee at GIZ, Germany, 23 March, 2016.

⁵¹Interview with employee at GIZ, Germany, 23 March, 2016.

There are for instance no questions regarding the potential impacts of climate variability on migration patterns, which may lead to increased social tensions and in some cases conflict. As one informant argues:

The [vulnerability] methodology stopped exactly at that part where we asked questions about socio-economic implications, but did not go further. On the other hand, if you go through the entire spectra of what we have had in German development aid on peace and conflict and impact assessment methodologies, those two don't go together.⁵²

This quote suggests that there are good reasons for integrating the conflict dimension in vulnerability assessments. Other informants noted that another important implication of the lack of attention to conflict in vulnerability assessments is that it hampers prevention of conflict in countries that are currently not defined as 'conflict countries'. There are many countries that are heavily affected by climate change and at the same time suffer from fragile governance structures, low-intensity tensions and insecurities. As several informants suggested, it is precisely in these countries that it is most important to pay attention to how different impacts of climate change, such as unequal access to resources, migration and rapid urbanisation, could potentially reinforce existing tensions or create new tensions.⁵³ Unfortunately, as these countries are not defined as conflict countries, there is no assessment of the risks of conflicts arising. One way of dealing with this problem would be, as one informant suggests, to develop more consistent strategies, which unify climate vulnerability assessments and peace and conflict assessments.⁵⁴ However, as mentioned in the previous section, this would require high-level support within BMZ and GIZ.

4.3.3 Implementation level – ensuring conflict sensitivity in climate programming

As discussed above, when designing projects in conflict-affected states it is mandatory to address peace and conflict assessments in the programme proposal, reporting and auditing (BMZ 2013:20). Peace and conflict assessments are intended to offer support and ensure that projects are designed in a conflict-sensitive manner. This procedure follows similar logic as climate proofing, which is based on ensuring that the 'do no harm' principle is followed. More specifically, this means that climate change programmes should not have any negative impacts on conflict dynamics

⁵² Interview with employee adelphi, Germany, 22 February, 2016.

⁵³Interview with employee at CHASE, DFID, 2015. Interview with employee at the climate change department at GIZ, Germany, 19 February 2016.

⁵⁴Interview with employee at adelphi, Germany, 22 February, 2016.

(BMZ et al. 2016). All development programming is expected to follow this principle, but only in conflict-affected countries is there comprehensive guidance, contextual analysis and follow-up mechanisms for ensuring that this is done properly.⁵⁵

For programmes that do not have peace building as their primary goal, the requirements are less strict. For these projects, it is required that "conflict themes relevant to the project/programme" are included in the design of the project. It is also mandatory to "identify unintended impacts, conduct regular impact monitoring" (GTZ 2008:17). Two informants working with climate change adaptation suggested that due to lack of training in conflict analysis, but also to time constraints, it is difficult to carry out this work with appropriate quality and develop entirely conflict-sensitive projects. As one of these informants stated, "it often difficult to integrate conflict-sensitivity as a red thread in the proposal, and in most cases only a few indicators are made conflict-sensitive, which become a bit scattered." This quote clearly shows that given the work burden and different aspects that need to be considered in project and programme development, it is often challenging to give sufficient priority to all dimensions.

In sum, since the 1990s Germany has been at the forefront in the international debate on climate and security. However, as the present analysis demonstrated, this topic is primarily addressed in high-level policies, but has largely been dealt with through separate analytical tools for peace building and climate change programming. These separate tools still need to be improved in order to be able to better capture how complex risks interact with each other. Climate and conflict sensitivity proofing has to some extent contributed to integrate these perspectives. However, the minimum requirement of these procedures to 'do no harm' means that questions are not posed in a new way and programmes are not designed differently. The present analysis also showed that acute, short-term priorities often become prioritised at the cost of long-term goals. This means that the work with conflict prevention could become disregarded. As discussed above, organisational structures are likely to be an important obstacle, as it makes the coordination and integration between the units focused on climate change and those working on conflicts and security more challenging. Another important explanation is the lack of high-level support that is necessary if joint methodologies for conflict and climate vulnerability assessments are to be developed and implemented within the organisation.

_

⁵⁵Interview with an employee at GIZ, Germany, 11 December, 2015.

⁵⁶Interview with an employee at the Climate Change Department at GIZ, Germany, 9 February. Interview with an employee at the Climate Change Department at GIZ, Germany, 19 February.

⁵⁷Interview with employee at the Climate Change Department at GIZ, Germany, 19 February, 2016.

5. The Netherlands – a newcomer within the climate security debate

"Climate change has a major impact on our security. We can no longer approach these two topics separately," said the Dutch foreign minister at the opening of the Planetary Security Conference.⁵⁸ In 2015, the Dutch MFA launched this annual conference, which was attended by high-level policy makers and experts. This was a way to show leadership and facilitate an international debate on the topic. The Dutch MFA has thus only very recently become engaged in the climate and security debate at international level. This engagement built upon that country's experience and strong expertise in water governance, as well as conflict management in international river basins. The Netherlands has thus experience of working with projects at the interface of conflict, natural resources and climate change. With this kind of niche expertise, it is particularly well suited to address water-related security risks that are likely to increase as a consequence of climate change and variability. The Netherlands is therefore an interesting case for analysis of a country trying to operationalise climate and security in its work.

The following sections first describe the Netherlands' niche expertise in water diplomacy and then present recent discussions within the ministry regarding how the links between climate and security could be operationalised. The reason for the briefer and more general description of the Netherlands in this report is that, in comparison with the two other cases, the recent discussions within the Dutch MFA have yet not been translated into policies, methodological tools and strategies.

⁵⁸https://www.government.nl/topics/climate-change/news/2015/11/02/koenders-and-ploumen-'climate-change-and-security-are-intimately-linked', accessed 17 November 2015.

5.1 Water diplomacy – A Dutch climate and security niche?

The Dutch MFA, which is the unit responsible for development cooperation,⁵⁹ has a long trajectory of working with water governance and diplomacy. Water diplomacy is related to different attempts to prevent and resolve conflicts over water (in most cases transboundary freshwater resources such as lakes, rivers and aquifer basins). Genderen and Rood (2011:10) argue that these conflicts could be dealt with through different strategies such as negotiations, impartial fact finding, mediation and conciliation, or arbitration in cases where negotiation efforts have failed. They also highlight that besides groundwater and transboundary river governance, the Netherlands also has long experience of flood control and delta technology, as well as drinking water provision and sanitation. These challenges are most likely to increase as a consequence of climate change and also of increasing urbanisation. Given its expertise and established networks, the Netherlands can hence be considered particularly well-suited to take an internationally leading role in water conflict prevention and solution (Genderen & Rood 2011:2).

Currently, the Dutch MFA implements three types of water programmes with components of climate change adaptation and conflict prevention or resolution. The first type is the bilateral water programme in fragile states and post-conflict societies (Palestinian Territories, Yemen, Mali, Rwanda, South Sudan). An employee at the Dutch MFA, notes that in these contexts it can be very difficult to address long-term climate risks, since there is not enough solid information regarding the more specific impacts of climate change on water and food resources. Moreover, in addition to the lack of knowledge of future climate impacts, the informant argues that in many cases short-term needs are so pressing that they need to be prioritised.⁶⁰

The second type is water programmes in international river basins such as the Senegal River, Niger and Lake Chad. Another informant at the Dutch MFA, explains that in these areas there is increasing foreign investment in agriculture and large-scale dams, which have the potential to contribute to local conflicts with regional spill-over effects. The same informant also reported that the Dutch programmes are intended to identify negative impacts and prevent conflicts that could easily arise due to unequal access to

⁵⁹The Dutch MFA has two ministers: the Minister of Foreign Affairs and the Minister of Foreign Trade and Development Cooperation. The fact that trade issues are in the same portfolio is important for understanding how the climate and security issue is addressed.

⁶⁰Interview (no.2) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January 2016. See also interview (no.1) with another employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January 2016, for a similar argument.

water resources. He also pointed out that the Dutch programmes have a substantial component of adaptation as well as conflict prevention.⁶¹

The third type is water-related investments in countries (Bangladesh, Egypt, Myanmar, Indonesia, Mozambique) in low-lying, densely populated deltas where increasing water security risks as a result of climate change are a major driver. One informant argues that even though these countries are currently not defined as fragile or conflict-affected, there is an imminent risk of them becoming destabilised if large groups of people fail to adapt in time. Energy Hence, even though not labelled as such, these programmes could help to reduce forced migration and thus have positive impacts on livelihood security.

In sum, the Dutch water programmes are designed to address water scarcity or abundances in relation to conflicts in transboundary river basins. These programmes are likely to become even more important as problems surrounding water governance become intensified as a consequence of climate change and variability. Currently, the programmes are focused on water governance problems in the short term, while there is little focus on long-term climate change. Even though the programmes are not labelled as such and the climate dimension could be strengthened, they still seem to be relatively close to addressing compound risks at the interface of conflict and climate. Hence, opportunities and challenges for further integrating these risks in strategies and programming are being identified in on-going discussions at the MFA.

5.2 Reflections on how to implement climate-security policies

In the aftermath of the Planetary Security conference in November 2015, there has been a discussion within the Dutch MFA regarding how to operationalise the link between climate change and security in development cooperation. This initiative seems to be driven by some individuals convinced of the importance of operationalizing the link, while others are more sceptical of the importance for the Dutch MFA to prioritize this.

Within the Dutch MFA, the Department for Inclusive Green Growth is responsible for climate change programming. Many water programmes are also run by this department, which implies that there is both a climate and a conflict perspective within the group. In a similar way as in DFID and GIZ,

⁶² Interview (no.1) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January, 2016.

⁶¹ Interview (no.1) with employee at MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January, 2016.

a separate department is responsible for programmes related to more largescale conflicts.

When the informants were asked about how they envision the implementation of climate and security within development programmes, it was clear that the lack of clarity and organisational values affected their interpretations of how climate and security could be implemented. Some informants argued that the climate and security debate is too abstract and that it is important to concretise what it actually means and create guidelines for how staff members should work with these issues. 63 The lack of clarity in the debate also meant that organisational values and traditionally strong focus on water shaped how the operationalisation of the debate was envisioned. From the point of view of various informants, climate risks are largely related to water scarcity and abundance. Hence, some informants suggested that many of the water-related projects could be relabelled climate and security projects. Some informants said that there is a lack of information on the long-term climate impacts on food and water resources, which makes it difficult to design interventions for addressing those changes. Others argued that climate impacts are only one factor among several, and in some contexts not even the most important factor.⁶⁴ These reflections show how informants are trying to deal with the still relatively unclear priorities regarding the issue by fitting it into the 'normal' ways of doing things. This opens up for the risk that the climate and security discourse is adopted without any substantive changes of the way they work.

However, some informants within the MFA pointed out the importance of increased interdepartmental coordination for working in a more integrated manner. For instance, the Netherlands has a tradition of cross-ministerial coordination of activities related to international water. This coordination involves the Ministries of Foreign Affairs, Infrastructure and Environment. Similar efforts have been made with climate change. The Inclusive Green Growth department consists of four "clusters": water, food security, energy and climate. The climate cluster involves four ministries (Finance, Environment, Economic Affairs and Foreign Affairs). One informant at the Inclusive Green Growth department at the MFA, noted that the advantages with these clusters is that they force the ministries to get out of their silos and identify common grounds that contribute to more coherent national policies. The informant added that even though there are disadvantages, such as the time required for building relationships with different ministries, the "positive lesson learned is that a lot of in-fighting between the ministries disappears." In the informant's view, interdepartmental coordination is a more efficient strategy than mainstreaming. As he puts it: "We have climate

_

⁶³Interview (no.2) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January 2016.

⁶⁴Interview (no.1) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January, 2016.

mainstreaming, but that doesn't do the trick. That's just not enough, usually mainstreaming buries an issue". 65 While the previous analysis of DFID and GIZ demonstrated that mainstreaming is certainly not sufficient to fully integrate an issue, it also showed that the mainstreaming approach could raise awareness of an issue.

However, it is important to acknowledge that the water and climate clusters do not necessarily address combined conflict and climate risks. According to an employee at the Dutch MFA, the climate cluster focuses more on climate negotiations, while the water cluster does not have a strong focus on climate. Hence, neither cluster has a focus on climate security risks. In the informant's view, there is a tendency to work in silos regarding those issues and it is important to strengthen horizontal linkages between different policy areas. In this context, one could speculate if the creation of a cluster for climate security would be a viable strategy for strengthening horizontal linkages.

In sum, even though the Netherlands engaged in the international debate on climate and security relatively recently, that country's long tradition of working with water diplomacy is likely to affect how the Dutch MFA operationalises the climate and security link in development cooperation. However, these are not labelled as climate security projects and they do not take long-term impacts of climate change and variability into account. Factors that may have important implications for the possibility to translate high-level political statements into policies, strategies and programming are political prioritisations, but also the current budget constraints. However, the above analysis also indicates that if climate and security were to be prioritised within MFA, the Netherlands would have a unique niche within the area of water-related conflict prevention and resolution, which would easily fit into the climate and security debate.

_

⁶⁵Interview (no.3) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January 2016.

⁶⁶ Interview (no.2) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 19 January, 2016. ⁶⁷ Interview (no.1) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January, 2016.

6. Experiences and implications for policy

This study examined how three development organisations address combined climate and conflict risks in their policies. It also investigated how the organisations deal with challenges to implementing these policies in their programmes. For DFID and GIZ, the level of integration was examined at three levels: high-level thematic policies, analytical tools and regional strategies, and the implementation level. The Dutch MFA was assessed more briefly, as its recent high-level initiative are more recent in comparison to Germany and UK. This final section first compares how climate risks have been integrated at different levels in peace-building efforts in DFID and GIZ, and then how conflict considerations have been integrated in climate change programming in these organisations. It then moves on to discuss some more general factors that could hamper effective integration of climate and conflict risks, and that may be important explanations for the opportunities and constraints in translating policies into analytical tools, strategies and programming.

6.1 Climate-resilient peace building

Climate-resilient peace building means that short- and long-term climate risks are taken into consideration in peace-building efforts as potential drivers of conflict (Crawford et. al. 2015:1). This study analysed how climate risks have been integrated at different levels in the three development organisations analysed, with particular emphasis on factors that could hamper integration. In high-level policies in both DFID and GIZ, climate change is mentioned as a factor that could increase the potential for conflicts. The British BSO strategy (2001:10) states that "climate change could increase the potential for conflict over disputed land and water", while the German peace and security strategy suggests that climate change may "trigger and perpetuate fragility and violence" (2013:12). It is therefore striking that neither organisation has adopted requirements on addressing climate change and variability in conflict analysis. The purpose of conflict analysis is to identify the changes needed to prevent and/or overcome conflicts. In some cases, staff members at the two organisations have on their own initiative included climate risks in the analysis. This was for instance the case in the JACS for the Sahel region, where the team responsible decided to include climate risks. In a similar way as with conflict analysis, there are no formal requirements in DFID's operational plans to take climate risks into account as a potential trigger of conflicts. Climate risks are still sometimes included, but at the initiative of individual staff members.

Without mandatory requirements, it is very much up to the commitment and capability of the staff members responsible for reports and there is an obvious risk that only the most obvious and well-known links will be identified. An important limitation in this context is that there are few staff members with competence in combined climate and conflict risks in peace and conflict units.

Regarding the mandatory procedures at implementation level, DFID and GIZ have had very similar systems of climate proofing, but DFID opted to withdraw its system in 2014 due to the time and resources required to implement it properly. In both organisations, climate proofing has helped raise the awareness of climate change within peace and conflict departments. However, DFID's follow-up mechanisms seem to be somewhat less rigorous that those applied by GIZ. An important limitation with how climate-proofing strategies are designed in both organisations is that they only ensure that the 'do no harm' principle is followed. There is no requirement for peace-building programmes to be modified so that they contribute in a positive way to combined climate and conflict risks. This suggests that in order to achieve more substantive changes, it is therefore necessary to introduce new mandatory considerations, including positive contributions.

Summing up, in both DFID and GIZ, climate risks have primarily been integrated in high-level policies and through climate proofing. While climate proofing has the advantage of raising awareness of the topic, in order to integrate climate risks more fully the analysis suggests it needs to be complemented with other strategies. This study showed that it is important to include new indicators in analytical tools and country strategies, for instance.

6.2 Conflict-sensitive climate change programming

Conflict-sensitive climate change programming means that responses to climate change should not increase the risk of conflict and in the best case even help strengthen peace-building processes (Crawford et. al. 2015:1). Thus it is interesting to consider how well conflict risks and sensitivity have been integrated in policies, analytical tools and implementation in the two organisations.

In high-level policies, DFID has largely addressed climate change in terms of resilience. Under this framework, DFID has formulated policies to

integrate climate change with closely related thematic areas such as humanitarian aid and poverty reduction, but also with peace-building efforts. DFID has thus sought to develop a joint overarching framework for integrating different policy areas. In Germany, it is primarily the DRR policy that identifies the link between climate change, disaster and violent conflicts, while in the documents on climate change mitigation and adaptation no such link is recognised. Informants within GIZ suggest that the large-scale migration into Europe has initiated a discussion about how issues related to climate change, conflict prevention/resolution and migration could be linked in development cooperation. An explanatory factor in this case is the internal organisational structures; in GIZ, DRR is located in the same unit as peace-building programmes, while climate change adaptation and mitigation programmes are located in a separate unit.

At the level of analytical tools, DFID employs resilience methodology, while GIZ uses vulnerability assessments. Both methodologies aim to identify risks and strengthen adaptation and development planning. They also address socio-economic conditions. However, it seems like the resilience methodology employed by DFID to larger extent includes conflict propensity, compared to the vulnerability assessments employed by GIZ.

At the level of implementation, both DFID and GIZ have guidelines for conflict-affected and fragile states regarding how to ensure the conflict sensitivity of development programming. These strategies and guidelines could be seen as a way of mainstreaming conflict sensitivity. However, informants suggested that without a help desk and other types of support, it could be very challenging to employ these tools and develop entirely conflict-sensitive projects. Moreover, these procedures follow a similar logic as climate proofing, which means that the minimum requirement is to 'do no harm'. An important implication of this is that these procedures in themselves are unlikely to strengthen peace-building processes. Overall, then, our analysis suggests that mainstreaming strategies are not enough for effectively addressing combined climate and conflict risks.

An important consequence of the separate methodologies for conflict and climate vulnerability is the risk that countries heavily affected by climate change and variability, but not defined as conflict-affected or fragile, could become destabilised as a consequence of failed adaptation efforts, migration and increased resource scarcity. For these countries, it is particularly important to include the conflict dimension in vulnerability and resilience assessments, in order to work in a more preventative manner as regards social tensions that could potentially arise.

Summing up, while DFID has included the conflict dimension in high-level resilience policies, there is no reference to conflict in GIZ climate change

documents. The conflict dimension is also not present in vulnerability assessments, although there are some minimum procedures in order to ensure that projects are conflict-sensitive. While these procedures are important, there are various ways in which guidelines and support of staff members could be further improved. However, to ensure that climate change programming is conflict sensitive in a broader sense, it is also necessary to identify ways in which these projects should not only 'do no harm'. but also contribute to peace in a more positive sense.

6.3 Factors important for policy implementation

It is clear that while there are some high-level policies regarding the links between climate change and security, these links are yet not integrated systematically in analytical tools and implementation procedures. This section focuses on the most important factors that pose a problem to effective integration of climate and conflict risks and present some strategies for dealing with these factors.

6.3.1 Unclear policy objectives and lack of information

This study found that an important explanation for the disconnection between high-level policies and their implementation is the lack of clarity and operationalisation of these policies into concrete guidelines that support staff members in their daily work. Climate and security has in many cases been used as a powerful discourse for persuading conservatives to increase their support for climate negotiations, so it is important to consider why policies have not been operationalised. Although full assessment of this issue was outside the scope of the present study, lack of political leadership and lack of information seem to be two important explanations. If there is no sustained and coherent political leadership that operationalises this discourse into more concrete goals, staff members overloaded with the requirements of different policies and priorities are unlikely to change their normal procedures for doing things.

Another important explanation is most likely as claimed by Lewis and Lenton (2015:384) that the lack of information on concrete impacts of climate change prevents policy makers from responding to climate risks. While climate variability affects societies today, it is difficult to specify the impacts of climate change that will take place in 30 or 40 years. Even if this information were available, for development organisations that operate in areas where acute problems often require immediate responses, it could be difficult to prioritise potential future problems.

Solutions to these problems

Even if it is difficult to get information about exact climate impacts, it is still possible, based on the available information, to include this dimension in existing methodologies and planning processes. However, this requires political leadership and resources and the processes themselves require expertise that is often lacking in development organisations. For instance, it is important to include climate advisors in different kinds of processes and train staff members. External help desks or public policy consultancies could undoubtedly also play an important role in providing expertise and support.

6.3.2 Internal organisational structures

Besides the difficulties posed by unclear policy objectives and lack of information, there are obstacles posed by siloed organisational structures. Effectively responding to climate-induced security challenges requires coordination and information from largely separate policy areas. These actors have their own organisational structures and cultures, which affects how they interpret and implement policy. One example of organisations trying to make new policies to fit into their normal way of doing things was provided by some informants at the Dutch MFA, who argued that their water diplomacy programmes are already designed to address this problem and it is therefore a matter of relabeling, rather than requiring a substantive change in orientation in their work. Even though, this might be a reasonable assessment, it also illustrates how policy communities often seek to implement policies in a way that is consistent with their thematic focus. As a consequence, the initial intention of policy may be lost in the implementation process. For instance, if one department is responsible for implementation, there is a risk that it will interpret the policy from its own perspective and try to fit it in into its 'normal way of doing things'. As suggested by Crawford et al. (2015:7), it could therefore be important to create new forms of coordination between policy areas for sharing knowledge, developing joint risk analysis and coordinating actions. However, even when new institutional structures for coordination between policy communities are created, it is important to reflect upon the perspectives represented. In the UK, the Stabilisation Unit was created to coordinate development, foreign policy and defence analysis and programming. However, as only conflict advisors were included, the Unit continued to focus on large-scale political conflicts with a short-term time horizon, and hence overlooked low-scale conflicts, which are the main type of conflict associated with climate change and variability. This suggests that even though organisational coordination and structures are important, it is also important to include staff with expertise on combined climate and conflict risks.

Solutions to these problems

Coordination could be strengthened by the creation of steering groups or by delegating the responsibility to a public policy consultancy. Steering groups can be time consuming, but are also important for identifying common grounds between different policy communities, which is often necessary in implementing policies that transcend policy areas. Partly delegate the coordinating role to a public policy consultancy could provide expertise and human resources, and thereby contribute to addressing issues in more coherent and sustained manner.

6.3.3 Measures for support and control

A third important explanation is the level of support and administrative control of staff members. It emerged from the analysis that staff members need to be supported in their work and that effective mechanisms for followup and monitoring of results need to be put in place to ensure compliance. It is primarily in relation to mainstreaming strategies that concrete forms of support and administrative control currently exist. In GIZ, climate proofing has been a high-profile theme and significantly more resources have been invested in making these procedures work compared with conflict proofing. For instance, there are accessible help desks, internal campaigns and followup procedures for ensuring climate proofing. Staff members reported great pressure to implement climate-proofing procedures, but also that they received good support. Until 2014, DFID had a similar system, with a special unit of climate and environmental advisors who revised and approved each project. However, in that case the follow-up procedures seem to have been less rigorous, so even though climate risks were identified in many projects, this did not result in any change of project to address this risk.

Solutions to these problems

First, it is important that heads of divisions ensure that staff members have the necessary capabilities and that they are committed to implementing the policy. Staff members' capabilities and commitments could be enhanced by training courses and internal campaigns in which the relevance for each team is explained. However, it must also be acknowledged that assessments of climate or conflict risks could be difficult to perform and there may be a need for specialist expert units that could offer support in project development and monitor projects. Finally, it is also important to strengthen effective follow-up procedures. If climate risks have been identified in a project, it is important to ensure that measures are taken to adapt that project accordingly.

6.4 Conclusions

The three organisations analysed in this study (DFID, GIZ and Dutch MFA) have mixed records of integrating climate and conflict risks in their work. While policies are often formulated at a relatively abstract level, they still need to be implemented in a more systematic fashion within the organisations. A number of obstacles that hamper effective implementation of these policies on climate and conflict risks were identified here. The majority of these related to internal organisation and procedures, and included lack of coordination between different policy areas, lack of support for staff through providing help desks or expert groups, and lack of effective follow-up mechanisms. Some more general obstacles were also identified, the most important being lack of information on climate impacts on for instance water, food and disaster risks, which makes it more difficult for policy makers to respond effectively.

However, this is a relatively new field and the three organisations studied are still in the process of developing and assessing the value of different methodologies and strategies. Even though they have not advanced far in all regards, there are important lessons to be learnt from their experiences that can be of benefit to Swedish practitioners and policy makers.

6.5 Lessons for policy-makers and practitioners

Translation of high-level policies into strategies and programming has proven to be a challenge for development organisations. Lack of knowledge and internal organisational structures and priorities are important obstacles for effective implementation. An important question is therefore how the implementation could be further improved. A number of lessons for policy-makers and practitioners are outlined below.

Improve coordination across policy areas

Climate and security threats span different policy areas that are often strongly separated. If these policy areas are managed within the same department or if a new steering group is created for dealing with climate and security issues, coordination is significantly easier. For instance, the Dutch MFA has positive experiences of working with interdepartmental groups related to water diplomacy. External expert units could also play an important coordinating role and contribute to coherence and sustainability over time.

The importance of knowledge

In responding to climate-induced security risks, information about how climate change may affect food, water, migration and humanitarian disasters

is crucial. Development organisations often lack the knowledge for responding efficiently to combined climate and conflict risks, so it is important to create help desks or units, internal or external, providing expertise on these matters. It is also important to ensure that staff members with competence in climate and conflict risks are represented in conflict analysis and that conflict advisors are included in resilience assessments. Finally, at international level, the possibility to share information on climate impacts among donor organisations should be considered.

Improve methodological tools

Various studies have indicated a need to assess compound risks. There is still a tendency, both within DFID and GIZ, that climate programming and peace-building efforts are mainly dealt with using separate analytical tools that makes it more difficult to capture how complex risks interact with each other. It is therefore important to develop new analytical tools that address both conflict risks and climate change vulnerability. To avoid reinventing the wheel in this regard, it is important to review the methods that exist today or are currently under development.

Limitations of mainstreaming strategies

Mainstreaming strategies have the advantage of raising awareness of an issue, but mainstreaming requires time, capabilities and commitment by staff members. It is therefore important to set up help desks or expert units that provide staff members with support, particularly during programme development and, if necessary, assume a monitoring role during the life cycle of the project. Note, however, that climate risks are not relevant in all kinds of projects, which was a major reason why DFID decided to retract mandatory climate proofing in its programmes. The importance of the initial phase still needs to be emphasized; if climate risks are not considered properly then, the subsequent steps will certainly be affected.

A general limitation of mainstreaming strategies is that they follow the 'do no harm' logic of only ensuring that projects have no obvious negative impacts, for instance on climate change. However, mainstreaming does not necessarily lead to more profound forms of integration, where positive effects are achieved. Hence, mainstreaming strategies alone are not sufficient to effectively address combined climate and conflict risks and need to be complemented with other integration strategies.

References

- Adger. W.N, J.M. Puhlin, J. Barnett, G.D. Dabelko, G.K Hovelsrud, M. Levy, U. Oswald Spring, and C. H. Vogel (2014) Human Security. In Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea, and L.L. White (eds.)], Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press.
- Babcicky, Philipp. 'A Conflict-Sensitive Approach to Climate Change Adaptation.' *Peace Review* 25.4 (2013): 480-488.
- Barrett, Susan M. "Implementation studies: time for a revival? Personal reflections on 20 years of implementation studies." *Public administration* 82.2 (2004): 249-262.
- Barnett, Jon. (2003) Security and Climate Change. *Global Environmental Change* 13: 7–17.
- Barnett, Jon, and Saffron O'Neill. 'Maladaptation.' *Global Environmental Change* 20.2 (2010): 211-213.
- Birkmann, Jörn, and Korinna von Teichman. 'Integrating disaster risk reduction and climate change adaptation: key challenges—scales, knowledge, and norms.' *Sustainability Science* 5.2 (2010): 171-184.
- BMUB and BMZ (2015). *International Climate Finance: Germany's contribution*. Berlin/Bonn: BMUB and BMZ.
- BMZ (2015a). Disaster Risk Management Approach and Contributions of German Development Cooperation. Bonn: BMZ.
- BMZ (2015b). Climate action in practice: The contribution of German development policy. Bonn/Berlin: BMZ.
- BMZ (2014). The Vulnerability Sourcebook Concept and guidelines for standardised vulnerability assessments. Bonn: BMZ.
- BMZ (2013). Development for Peace and Security: Development Policy in the Context of Conflict, Fragility and Violence. Bonn: BMZ.
- BMZ, GIZ and KFW (2016). Peace and Conflict Assessment Factsheet on the "Peace and Conflict Assessment (PCA)" methodological framework. Berlin: BMZ, GIZ and KFW.
- Brooks N., Eunica Aure and Martin Whiteside (2014). *Draft Report: Assessing the impact of ICF programmes on household and community resilience to climate variability and climate change.* London: DFID.
- Buhaug, Halvard (2015) Climate-Conflict Research: Some Reflections on the Way Forward. *WIREs Climate Change* 6: 269–275.
- Crawford, Alec, et al. (2015). "Promoting Climate-Resilient Peacebuilding in Fragile States." *Geneva: International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)*.

- CSSF (2016) *CSSF Thematic Information Paper (TIP) Conflict Analysis*. London: Stabilization Unit.
- Dabelko, Geoffrey D., et al. "Backdraft: the conflict potential of climate change adaptation and mitigation." *Wilson Center* (2013).
- DFID (2016a) Smart Rules Better Programme Delivery. London: DFID.
- DFID (2016b) *Resilience top lines within DFID*. London: DFID:
- DFID. 2012. "Climate Change & Environment Assessment for the Business Case." DFID Practice Paper. April 2012. London: DFID.
- DFID & UKAID (2011a). Humanitarian Emergency Response Review: UK Government Response. London: DFID & UKAID.
- DFID & UKAID (2011b). UK Government's Humanitarian Policy, Saving lives, preventing suffering and building resilience. London: DFID & UKAID.
- DFID (2011c). *Defining disaster resilience: A DFID approach paper*. London: DFID.
- DFID (2011d). Business Plan 2011-2015 Department for International Development. London: DFID.
- DFID (2010a). Building Peaceful States and Societies A DFID Practice Paper. London: DFID & UKAID.
- DFID (2010b). Working effectively in conflict affected and fragile situations summary note. London: DFID.
- DFID (2010c) DFID Practice Paper: Briefing Paper A: Analysing Conflict and Fragility. London: DFID.
- DFID (2010d) DFID Practice Paper: Do no Harm. London: DFID.
- DFID (2010e) How to Note A DFID Practice Paper. London: DFID.
- DFID (2006a) *Eliminating World Poverty: making governance work for the poor*. White Paper on International Development. London: Department for International Development.
- DFID (2002). Conducting Conflict Assessments: Guidance Notes. London: DFID.
- DFID & HM Treasury (2015). UK aid: tackling global challenges in the national interest. London: DFID & HM Tresury.
- DFID (2010). Building Peaceful States and Societies A DFID Practice Paper. London: DFID & UKAID.
- DFID, FCO & MOD (2011). Building Stability Overseas. London: DFID, FCO & MOD.
- Van Genderen, Ruben, and Jan Rood. "Water diplomacy: A niche for the Netherlands?." Netherlands Institute of International Relations 'Clingendael', with the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the Water Governance Centre (2011).
- FCO (2007). Desertification: a security threat?— Analysis of risks and challenges. Berlin: FCO.
- GIZ (2013). Best Practices in Mainstreaming Climate Change: Climate Proofing for Development. Eschborn: GIZ.
- GTZ (2008) Peace and Conflict Assessment (PCA) A methodological framework for the conflict- and peace-oriented alignment of development programmes. Eschborn: GTZ.
- GTZ & BMZ (2008). Climate Change and Security Challenges for German Development Cooperation. Eschborn: GTZ.
- Hall, Nina (2016) Displacement, Development, and Climate Change International organizations moving beyond their mandates. London: Routledge
- HM Government (2015a). National Security Strategy and Strategic Defence and Security Review 2015 A Secure and Prosperous United Kingdom. London: HM Government.

- HM Government (2015b). A Strong Britain in an Age of Uncertainty: The National Security Strategy. London: HM Government.
- Ide, Tobias, and Jurgen Scheffran (2014). On Climate, Conflict and Cumulation: Suggestions for Integrative Cumulation of Knowledge in the Research on Climate Change and Violent Conflict. *Global Change, Peace & Security* 26: 263–279.
- King, D., D. Schrag, Z. Dadi, Q. Ye & A. Ghosh (2015). *Climate Change: A Risk Assessment*. Cambridge: Centre for Science and Policy, Cambridge University.
- Lewis, Kirsty H., and Timothy M. Lenton. "Knowledge problems in climate change and security research." Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change 6.4 (2015): 383-399.:384
- Lipsky, Michael (1980). Street-level bureaucracy: dilemmas of the individual in public services. New York: Russell Sage Foundation
- Matthew, Richard. 'Integrating climate change into peacebuilding.' *Climatic change* 123.1 (2014): 83-93.
- Matthew R., A. Hammill (2012) 'Peacebuilding and adaptation to climate change.' In *Assessing and Restoring Natural Resources in Post Conflict Peacebuilding*, ed. D. Jensen and S. Lonergan. London: Earthscan.
- McCandless, Erin and Graeme Simpson (2015). "Assessing Resilience for Peacebuilding Executive Summary of Discussion Document: Executive summary". Geneve/Stockholm: Interpeace and Sida.
- MFA & adelphi (2014). New Paths for Climate Diplomacy. Berlin: MFA & adelphi. Nordås, Ragnhild, and Nils Petter Gleditsch. (2007) Climate Change and Conflict. *Political Geography* 26: 627–638.
- OECD (2015). States of Fragility 2015: Meeting Post-2015 Ambitions, OECD Publishing, Paris.
- Peters & Vivekanada 2014. Topic Guide: Conflict, Climate and the Environment, London:
- PWC (2013). International Threats and Opportunities of Climate Change for UK. London: PWC.
- Ranger, Nicola, Alex Harvey, and Su-Lin Garbett-Shiels. 'Safeguarding development aid against climate change: evaluating progress and identifying best practice.' *Development in Practice* 24.4 (2014): 467-486.
- Rüttinger, L., D. Smith, G. Stang, D. Tänzler, and J. Vivekananda. (2015) *A New Climate for Peace: Taking Action on Climate and Fragility Risks*. Berlin: adelphi, International Alert, Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars, European Institute for Security Studies.
- Scheffran J., M. Brzoska, J. Kominek, P.M. Link & J. Schilling (2012). 'Disentangling the Climate-conflict Nexus: Empirical and Theoretical Assessment of Vulnerabilities and Pathways', *Review of European Studies*, 4:5, pp.1-13.
- Tänzler, D. (2013) 'Forests and Conflict: The Relevance of REDD+'. Dabelko, Geoffrey D., Lauren Herzer, Schuyler Null, Meaghan Parker, & Russell Sticklor (Eds). (2013). Backdraft: The Conflict Potential of Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation (Environmental Change & Security Program Report Vol. 14, Issue 2). Washington DC: Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars.
- Tänzler, D. (2013). 'The Need for Conflict-Sensitive Adaptation'. In Dabelko, Geoffrey D., Lauren Herzer, Schuyler Null, Meaghan Parker, & Russell Sticklor (Eds). (2013). Backdraft: The Conflict Potential of Climate Change Adaptation and Mitigation (Environmental Change & Security Program Report Vol. 14, Issue 2). Washington DC: Woodrow Wilson International Center for Scholars.
- Uggla, F. (2007). Mainstreaming at Sida A Synthesis Report. Sida Studies in Evaluation, No 5. Stockholm: Department for Evaluation and Internal Audit

- UNEP (2015) Addressing the Role of Natural Resources in Conflict and Peacebuilding A Summary of Progress from UNEP's Environmental Cooperation for Peacebuilding Programme 2008-2015. Kenya: UNEP.
- United Nations Security Council (2009a), *Resolution 63/281*. Available at: http://www.securitycouncilreport.org/atf/cf/%7B65BFCF9B-6D27-4E9C-8CD3-CF6E4FF96FF9%7D/res%2063%20281.pdf [Accessed 2015-11-12].
- United Nations General Assembly (2009b). Climate change and its possible security implications: Report of the Secretary General. New York: United Nations General Assembly.
- United Nations Security Council (2011). Letter dated 1 July 2011 from the Permanent Representative of Germany to the United Nations addressed to the President of the Security Council. Available at: http://www.unep.org/newyork/Portals/129/docs/SC.CC.20.7.11.pdf
- van Baalen, S. & M. Mobjörk (2016). A Coming Anarchy? Pathways from Climate Change to Violent Conflict in East Africa: A Systematic Literature Review. Stockholm: Stockholm University, The Swedish Institute of International Affairs & Stockholm Resilience Centre.
- Vivekananda, Janani, Janpeter Schilling, and Dan Smith. 'Climate resilience in fragile and conflict-affected societies: concepts and approaches.' *Development in Practice* 24.4 (2014): 487-501.
- Wilson, James Q. (1989) Bureaucracy: What government agencies do and why they do it. XXXX: Basic Books.
- Youngs, R. (2015). Climate Change and European Security. London: Routledge.
- Young, Helen, and Lisa Goldman, eds. *Livelihoods, Natural Resources, and Post-Conflict Peacebuilding*. Routledge, 2015.

List of interviews

- 1) Interview with an employee at GIZ, Germany, 11 December, 2015.
- 2) Group interview with a cross-government team involved in the JACS, UK, 7 January 2016.
- 3) Interview with employee at the climate change department at GIZ, Germany, 9 February 2016.
- 4) Interview with former employee at UNEP staff member working within a DFID-funded project in Sudan, 26 January 2016.
- 5) Interview with employee at adelphi, Germany, 22 February, 2016.
- 6) Interview with employee at the Profession of Environment and Climate change at DFID, UK, 6 January 2016.
- 7) Interview with an employee at GIZ, Germany, 23 March 2016.
- 8) Interview (no.1) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January 2016.
- 9) Interview (no.2) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January 2016.
- 10) Interview with employee at CHASE, DFID, UK, 23 December 2016.
- 11) Interview with former government official, UK, 21 January 2016.
- 12) Interview with employee at the Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Building and Nuclear Safety, Germany, 12 January 2016.
- 13) Interview (no.3) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 18 January 2016.
- 14) Interview with employee at the Climate and Environment department, DFID, UK, 6 January 2016.
- 15) Interview with employee at the climate change department at GIZ, Germany, 9 February 2016.
- 16) Interview former employe at Foreign and Commonwealth Office, UK, 24 February 2016.
- 17) Interview with former employee at International Alert, UK, 8 December 2015.
- 18) Interview (no. 1) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 19 January 2016.
- 19) Interview with former employee at the MFA, Germany, 25 January, 2016
- 20) Interview with former employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 11 December 2016.
- 21) Interview with employee at International Alert, UK, 6 January 2016.
- 22) Interview with employee at the MFA, Germany 12 January 2016.

- Interview (no. 2) with employee at the MFA, the Netherlands, 19 January 2016.
 Interview with employee at the Institute for Water Education, 18 January 2016 23)
- 24)

